
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

February 06, 2024 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 

 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the January 16, 2024 Commission meeting minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to 
speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Unfinished Business - Contains items held from a previous agenda. 

1. [2023-606 Ordinance] 

Consideration to approve the First Reading to amend Part II - Official Code,  Chapter 
42; Section 42-7 - Firearms of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances (1st reading 
approved 11/21/2023, 2nd reading denied 12/05/2023) 

 

 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – February 06, 2024 

X. New Business 

1. [2024-039 Assemblage Permit] Samantha Easton 

Consideration to approve an Assemblage Permit for the Effingham Shrine Club to host 
Ham Jam on April 6, 2024 beginning at 5:00pm at 1258 Corinth Church Road  Map# 
311Parcel# 10, in the Third District 

2. [2024-040 Road Abandonment] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve to publish a notice to abandon for a portion of Otis Seckinger 
Road located in the Second District 

3. [2024-041 Plat/Deed] Samantha Easton 

Consideration to approve a Final Plat and Warranty Deed as submitted by Toss Allen, of 
Allen Engineering for Oglethorpe Landing Phase 2 located on Ebenezer Road, consisting 
of 45 lotsMap# 446 Parcel# 12, in the Fifth District 

4. Consideration to approve a Final Plat and Warranty Deed as submitted by Stuart Barney, 
of Dream Finders Homes for Creekside Phase 2A, located on Noel C Conaway Road, 
consisting of 155 lotsMap# 436 Parcel# 46 & 46A, in the Second District 

5. [2024-043 Purchase Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve an amended Purchase Order for the purchase of three 
Ambulances for EMS 

6. [2024-044 Contract] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment #6 to the Contract for Roadside Mowing Services 
with the McGraley Company, LLC 

7. [2024-045 Proposal] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Proposal from Kimley-Horn for design of roadway and 
intersection improvements of Old Augusta Road 

8. [2024-046 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Change Order for Peek Pavement for a decrease in the LMIG 
SAP Project 

9. [2024-047 Contract] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Contract with Robert Lanier d/b/a Diversified Correctional 
Services, LLC for the Effingham County Prison PREA Audit  

10. [2024-048 Agreement] Alison Bruton  

Consideration to approve a Utility Easement Agreement between the Board of 
Commissioners and the Effingham County Industrial Development Authority  

11. [2024-049 Grant Award] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to accept participation in the Georgia Department of Community Health 
(DCH) to participate in the GA Medicaid Fee-for-Service (FFS) Ground Ambulance Upper 
Payment Limit (UPL) Supplemental Payment Program 

12. [2024-050 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-007 to amend the fiscal year 2023 Budget  

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – February 06, 2024 

13. [2024-051 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-008 to amend the fiscal year 2024 Budget 

14. [2024-052 Job Description] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve and publish a new Job Description for a Solid Waste 
Coordinator for Development Services and a Health, Wellness and Safety Coordinator for 
Human Resources 

15. [2024-053 Agreement] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve an amended Administrative Services Agreement between 
Meritain Health Inc and the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

16. [2024-054 Annexation] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve a Petition for Annexation as submitted by the City of 
Springfield for a property consisting of approximately 9.25 acres located adjacent to GA 
Hwy 21 Map# 410 Parcel# 61-63 

XI. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIII. Executive Session Minutes - No executive session was held, no minutes to be approved. 

XIV. Planning Board - 6:00 pm 

1. [2024-055 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Eric Smith for a 
conditional use for a rural business located at 445 Golden Drive, Map# 450A Parcel 
#56, in the Second District 

2. [2024-056 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Eric Smith for a 
conditional use for a rural business located at 445 Golden Drive Map# 450A Parcel 
#56, in the Second District 

3. [2024-057 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Hallie Myers as agent 
for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. for a conditional use for an Agritourism Business located at 
729 Ardmore Oaky Road Map# 285 Parcel # 5, in the Third District 

4. [2024-058 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Hallie Myers as agent 
for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. for a conditional use for an Agritourism Business located 
at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road Map# 285 Parcel # 5, in the Third District 

5. [2024-059 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Hallie Myers as agent for 
Blue Sky Acres, Inc. requests a variance from ordinance Section 3.4.1, to allow for the 
reduction in required buffers located at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road, Map# 285 Parcel# 
5, in  the Third District 

 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – February 06, 2024 

6. [2024-060 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Hallie Myers as agent 
for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. requests a variance from ordinance Section 3.4.1, to allow for 
the reduction in required buffers located at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road, Map# 285 
Parcel# 5, in the Third District 

7. [2024-061 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by Jamon Jones as agent for 
Perez Everardo Baca to rezone 17.5 acres located at 2388 US Highway 80 from AR-1 
to I-1 to allow for  a concrete plant. Map# 354 Parcel# 28, in the First District 

8. [2024-062 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jamon Jones as agent 
for Perez Everardo Baca to rezone 17.5 acres located at 2388 US Highway 
80 from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. Map# 354 Parcel# 28, in the First 
District 

9. [2024-063 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by James Dasher as agent 
for Peggy Ann Boykin Beck to rezone 116 acres located at Earl Lain Road & 
Hodgeville Road from PD Residential to PD Residential to allow for  the amendment 
of a Planned Development. Map# 435 Parcel# 21, 21A, & 21B, in the Second District 

10. [2024-064 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by James Dasher as 
agent for Peggy Ann Boykin Beck to rezone 116 acres located at Earl Lain Road & 
Hodgeville Road from PD Residential to PD Residential to allow for the amendment 
of a Planned Development. Map# 435 Parcel# 21, 21A, & 21B, in the Second District 

11. [2024-065 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Cindy & Steven 
Pitts to rezone 1.00 out of 7 acres located at 453 Gracen Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a new home site. Map# 271 Parcel# 40, in the Third District 

12. [2024-066 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Cindy & Steven 
Pitts to rezone 1.00 out of 7 acres located at 453 Gracen Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a new home site Map# 271 Parcel# 40, in the Third District  

13. [2024-067 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving with conditions an application by Mark 
Jacobs to rezone 20.41 acres located at Highway 119 South & 475 Little McCall 
Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites Map# 320 
Parcel# 50D & 52, in the Third District 

14. [2024-068 Second Reading]  

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Mark 
Jacobs to rezone 20.41 acres located at Highway 119 South & 475 Little McCall 
Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites Map# 320 
Parcel# 50D & 52, in the Third District 

4



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – February 06, 2024 

15. [2024-069 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Milton Rahn 
Jr. to rezone 0.078 acres of 78.775 located at Lexington Avenue Ext. from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for the division of an encroachment of a shed from an adjacent parcel Map# 
447 Parcel# 3, in the Fifth District  

16. [2024-070 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Milton Rahn 
Jr. to rezone 0.078 acres of 78.775 located at Lexington Avenue Ext. from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for the division of an encroachment of a shed from an adjacent parcel Map# 
447 Parcel# 3, in the Fifth District 

17. [2024-071 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Donnie 
Bazemore to rezone 1.58 acres located at 5947 GA Highway 21 South from R-1 to B-
3 to allow for a car lot Map# 465 Parcel# 1C, in the Fifth District 

18. [2024-072 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Donnie 
Bazemore to rezone 1.58 acres located at 5947 GA Highway 21 South from R-1 to B-
3 to allow for a car lot Map# 465 Parcel# 1C, in the Fifth District 

19. [2024-073 Sketch Plan] Samantha Easton 

The Planning Board recommends approval for an application by Donnie Bazemore for a 
Sketch Plan located on Hwy 21 South, for "Rincon Car Lot" proposed zoning B-3 Map# 
465 Parcels# 1C in the Fifth District 

XV. Adjournment 

5



6

Item IX. 1.



7

Item IX. 1.



8

Item IX. 1.



9

Item IX. 1.



Sec. 42-7. - Firearms. 

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge any explosive, pistol, gun, or other weapon or 

instrument likely to produce injury to person or property, except in defense of person or property, 

within a radius of 300 yards from any occupied dwelling without the express permission of the 

occupant of such dwelling. Nothing in this section shall apply to any person authorized by law to use 

firearms in the course of his duty. 

(b)  It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge any firearm on any public boat ramp or public 

dock, or on any public land or facilities adjacent to any public boat ramp or public dock maintained or 

owned by the county. 

(c)  Notwithstanding section (a), a single parcel, under single ownership, and a minimum of one 

hundred (100) acres, in an AR-1 zoning district, can discharge firearms on the parcel without notifying 

the county during the Georgia Wildlife Resources Division designated dove season. 

(d)  Notwithstanding section (a), for properties in single ownership under 100 acres, the landowner 

must register, with the Sheriff’s office, the times and the dates for any discharge of a firearm on the 

property during the Georgia Wildlife Resources Division designated dove season. 

 

 (Ord. of 9-2-80; Ord. of 2-18-97) 

 

Vers
ion

 pr
es

en
ted

 to
 th

e B
oa

rd 
12

/05
/20

23

10

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Assemblage Permit (Third District) 
Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date:  February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Consideration to approve an Assemblage Permit for the Effingham Shrine Club to hold 
Ham Jam on Saturday, April 6, 2024, beginning at 5:00pm. Located at 1258 Corinth Church Road. Map# 311 
Parcel# 10 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval for an Assemblage Permit for the Effingham Shrine Club to hold Ham Jam beginning 
at 5:00pm on April 6, 2024. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

• The event will be a concert and have food trucks and an alcohol vendor. 
• The alcohol will be sold by Liquor Cabinet, which holds a State Distributor’s License. 
• Off-street parking is available on-site. 
• Reasonable accommodation shall be allowed outside event times to set up and take down the event. 
• All proceeds of Ham Jam will go to the Effingham Shrine Club.  

Alternatives  
1. Approve an Assemblage Permit for the Effingham Shrine Club to hold Ham Jam from beginning at 5:00pm on 
April 6, 2024 
 
2. Deny an Assemblage Permit for the Effingham Shrine Club to hold Ham Jam from beginning at 5:00pm on 
April 6, 2024 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Assemblage Permit Application 
   2.  Site Plan showing parking and Concert Area 
  

 

11

Item X. 1.



12

Item X. 1.



13

Item X. 2.



14

Item X. 2.



15

Item X. 2.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Final Plat Approval (Fifth District) 
Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date:  February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Toss Allen requests approval of the final plat and infrastructure agreement 
for Oglethorpe Phase 2. Map #446 Parcel# 12  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the plat, and inspected the roads and drainage infrastructure identified in the 
warranty deed, and recommends approval.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Construction Development Investors, LLC contractors have built roads and drainage 

infrastructure for Phase 2 of Oglethorpe Landing in order to sell the 45 lots in this R-6 
subdivision.  

• City of Springfield will provide water & Sewer service.  
• EOM inspected all roads, right-of-ways, and drainage infrastructure that is being dedicated to 

the county and has requested a 2nd Inspection to verify the installation of the Buffer and 
stabilization of the Pond.  

• Development Services Staff reviewed the Final Plat and Final Plat Checklist. All documents are 
in order, and consistent with zoning, plans, and plats previously approved. 

• EOM has reviewed the Warranty Bond Recommendation, which is correct.  
• Development Services has not received the Bond as of 1/26/24.  
• The County Attorney has reviewed and approved the warranty deed and infrastructure 

agreement and approves. 
• Staff has been in contact to receive the Bond before commencement of pulling building permits. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the final plat and infrastructure agreement for Oglethorpe Phase 2, and accept the 

roads and drainage infrastructure identified in the warranty deed. 

2. Take no action 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Final Plat for Oglethorpe Phase 2  

2. Final Plat Submittal Form & Checklist 
3. Warrant Deed  
4. Bond  

   

16

Item X. 3.



SHEET 1 OF 2 

100 0 100 200 300 

& •�•c�•��-c�•�:----1----, ___ �i 

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATION 
As required by subsectlon(d) of O,C,G,A. Section 
15-6-67, this plat has been prepared by a land 
surveyor and approved by all applicable local 
jurisdictions for recording as evidenced by approval
certificated, signatures, stamps or statements 
hereon. Such approvals or affirmations should 
be confirmed with the appropriate governmental 
bodies by any purchaser or user of this plat as 
to intended use of any parcel. Furthermore, the
undersigned land surveyor certifies that this plot 
complies with the minimum technical standards 
for property surveys In Georgia as set forth in 
the rules and regulations of the Georgia Board
of Registration for Professional Engineers and 
land Surveyors and as set forth In O.C.G.A. 

GRAPHIC SCALE FEET 

OCLEll-lORPE LANO/NC 

SUB0/'4S/ON, .PHASE 2 

SHEET 1, LOTS 32 lHRt/ �7 

AN/J LOTS 73 lHRt/ 76 

LOCATED IN THE 9TH G. M. D .. 
EFFINGHAM COUNTY. GEORGIA 

Section 15-6-67. ;J � N 853286.91 
� 2, r�� E 942507.23 

WARREN E. POYTI-IRESS, dsTERED LAND SURVEYOR, NO. 1953 

//-29-23 / / 
DATE 

FINAL PLAT APPROVAL: 
THE SUBDMSION KNOWN AS OGLETHORPE 
LANDING SUBDIVISION -PHASE 2 HAS BEEN 
FOUND TO COMPLY WITH THE EFFINGHAM 
COUNTY SUBDIVISION REGULATION AND 
WAS APPROVED BY THE EFFINGHAM 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR 
RECORDING IN THE OFFICE OF CLERK 
OF SUPERIOR COURT OF EFFINGHAM 
COUNTY GEORGIA. 

CHAIRMAN OF COMMISSIONERS 

CLERK OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMIISSIONERS 

TOTAL AREA OF LAND = 15.11 ACRES 
TOTAL AREA OF RIGHT-A-WAY = 2.41 ACRES 
SHEET 1 LOT 32 THRU LOT 48 AND 

LOT 73 THRU LOT 76 - 3.94 ACRES 
SHEET 2 LOT 48 THRU LOT 72 - 5.15 ACRES 
SEWER PROVIDED BY THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 
WATER PROVIDED BY THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 

CURVE TABLE PAGE 1 OF 2 

Curve Radius Length 
C17 15.00' 23.56' 
C18 15.00' 23.56' 
C19 18.00' 18.44' 
C20 50.00' 16,92 I 

C21 50.00' 60.00' 
C22 50.00' 60.00' 
C23 50.00' 46.78' 
C24 50.00' 48.66' 
C25 18.00' 16.82' 

Course Bearing 
L1 S 19 ° 05'34 11 E 
L2 s 19 ° 13 I 33 II E 
l3 s 19 ° 09 I 05 II E 
L4 s 19 ° 04 I 39 11 E 
LS s 19 ° 11 I 22 II E 

Chord 
21. 21 '
21, 21 I 

17 .65'
16.84'
56.46'
56.46'
45, 10 I 

46.77'
16.22'

Distance 
62.47' 
60.04' 
60.09' 
59.84' 
60.05' 

Chord Bear. 
N 26 °59 '32 11 

E RBS 
N 63 ° 00'28 11 W 
N 03 ° 33'38 11 E 
N 15 ° 26 I 04 II E 
N 28 °38'13 11 W 
s 82 °36'29 11 

w

s 21 °25'31 11 

w

s 33 ° 15 I 43 II E 
S 41 °24'01 1

1 E 

49 ip 
� 

ID • 

-�

.\_.,,.,,.-RBS ,JC

DA TE: NOVEMBER 29, 2023 
By: Warren E Poythress 
Registered Land Surveyor No. 1953 
Address: 991 Hunters Road 

Sylvania, Georgia 30467 
Cell Phone - 912-531-1453 
Telephone: 912-857-3288 
Equipment - Sakic GRS2 - GPS 
FINAL PLAT CLOSURE = 34984 

RBS - 5/8" REBAR(SET) 
RBF - 5/8" REBAR(FOUND) 

SETBACKS 
FRONT 15' 
REAR 25' 
SIDE 7.5' 
BUFFER 15' 

-

®� 
�-

@� 

---------
'F 

.,,,..,,... 
-

G) 
::0 

a 

z 
0 

'I 
o'R\W 

6 _,.,,,. 
.,,,..,,... 

72 " 

-�6'\:, 
\0• s �

0
.sS 

RBS� '\.J 
70"38'43"W 

L6 S 19 ° 08'58' E 
L7 S 19 °13'07 E 
LB S 19 °09'31 E 

60.06' 
67.48' 
67,51 

·a.I oR/vr.. 
£Un.£1• .,,,....... � 

f/?i - 60' R\W 

5
•4�K N1ln_ - COORDINATES 

CENTER CULDASAC SHEET 1 
NORTH 853224.14 
EAST 942700. 79 

PK NAIL C\L INTERSECTION 
NORTH - 852587.58 L9 S 19 °00'56 E 

L 10 s 19 ° 08 I 10 E 
l11 S 19 °11'01 E 
L12 S 19 ° 05'09 E 

59.86' 
60.00' 
60.00' 
60.02' 

ROAD AREA SHEET 1 = 1.05 ACRES 
ROAD AREA SHEET 2 = 1.36 ACRES 

TOTAL ROAD AREA = 2.41 ACRES 
" ENGINEER STATEMENT 
I hereby certify that the sheets, drainage system, sewer system, and water system in 

EAST - 942908.273 
PK NAIL C\L CULDASAC SH 2 
NORTH - 852157.79 
EAST - 942621.26 

the Subdivision known as Oglethorpe Landing phase 2 shown on the Plat dated November 29, 2023 
preparped by Poythress Land Surveying, Inc. has been installed in accordance with the preliminary plan 
(Construction Drawing) approved, Date February 2, 2023 1 (Y)C � 

Certificate of ownership and dedication ENGINEER - TOSS ALLEN 
It hereby certify that I am the owner of the property shown and described 
hereon and that I hereby dedicate all streets, alleys, walks, parks, and 
other sites shown hereon. are dedicated to public or private use as noted. 

17

Item X. 3.



100 

I 
200 

I 
300 

i 
SHEET 2 OF 2 

GRAPHIC SCALE FEET 

LOCATION MAP 

Z: \0-P\OCU:THORPE LANDING-B JAKE PA TRICK.DWG 

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICA Tl 

As required by subsection(d) of O,C,G,A. Section 
15-6-67, this plat has been prepared by a land 

CF:OCU:TPAT 

SETBACKS 

SITE 

surveyor and approved by all applicable local FRONT 15' � NOT T jurisdictions for recording as evidenced by approval
REAR 25, '-------,.....i..--<:.---.-------0-

S
..,.C_

A
_L_

E 
____ -,--• certificated, signatures, stamps or statements Course Bearing Distance hereon. Such approvals or affirmations should SIDE 7.5' 

1------l-----------1------------l be confirmed with the appropriate governmental BUFFER 15' L 1 S 19 ° 11 '01 " E 60. 00' '------L.-L->-------......._-----b o dies by any purchaser or user of this plat as ,A.JG L2 S 19 ° 05 '09" E 60. 02' 
to intended use of any parcel. Furthermore, the LAfvO/,v 1---L -3---1------'-S-19

'--
0--"2

....;_
2

_• 1
_
5

_"_E _-+---6-0 -.1-8-,-----i
undersigned land surveyor certifies that this plat ,op[ ·t:"f f Al �---=..:...._---'-_S

..:...._...:;_=-_....;_-E_
---'-__ 

6
_
0

_
.

_
0

_
1

4-
' 

-----1 

complies with the minimum technical standards rt,[TflO"''} sH[�u 47 Arv, L4 
for property surveys in Georgia as set forth in 01J1 c[ �, -ruf? the rules and regulations of the Georgia Board pHA.J1 

J2 I fl' � 
of Registration for Professional Engineers and LO rsLO-rc Land Surveyors and as set forth in O.C.G.A. /-',. 
Section 15 6-67

1 
s 55·50'54"E 47 

� � 
N 852726.68 � 
E 943030.60 , • \ 

tt<-, - 11.03' 
' RBF 

� 

� 
� 

WARREN E. POYTHRESS, RE ND SURVEYOR, 

0
o. 1953

DAlE 

11 - 2W2.J3

5t1£"' #/£/, 
HN p. cA c. ?J)-G't..

JOR£�£f006o�� 
?\..r oA-A-0 
?\� 

RB. 

RB. 

RBS - 5/8" REBAR SET 
RBF - 5/8" REBAR FOUND 

SHEET 2 - LOTS 48 TJ/Rt.l 72

LOCATED IN THE 9TH G. M. D .• 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY. GEORGIA 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

-

\--
-

-

\ 
\ 

\ 

� ...,.-r,i;r--;,m7,r,:r.v�----i \ _.I 
1..-

...-...,. EASEMENT 

-

-

...,. ...,. Vi'AINAGE FL.OH' 
--

�ro��SEAlmT 

ioP'.,�,r 01£R 77-IE OE7FN710, IV'�fY 
PONO 

� 
_--.;w�

-15' DRAINAGE FLOW 
o,A/ 0£ THROUGH EASEMENT ucTI ,v LLc 

coNsrR .JCsroRJ•AR[A /f.JV'-coMMO 

CURVE TABLE 

C11 50.00' 37.50' 36.63' N 41 °43'11 E 
C12 50.00' 66.27' 61.52' N 17 °44'02 W 
C13 27.96' 23.21' 22.55' N 43 °06'28 W 
C14 120.00' 166.24' 153.26' N 21 °40'45 E 
C15 120.00' 22.26' 22.23' N 66 °40'47 E 
C16 15.00' 23.56' 21.21' S 63 °00'28 E 18

Item X. 3.



 

 
 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 
 

WARRANTY DEED 
 
 

THIS INDENTURE made this ___ day of _______________, 2024, by and between 
CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, having 
its principal place of business at 37 W. Fairmont Avenue, Suite 202, Savannah, GA 31406, as Party or 
Parties of the First Part, hereinafter referred to as Grantor, and the THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of 
Georgia, as Party or Parties of the Second Part, hereinafter referred to as Grantee (the words 
"Grantor" and "Grantee" to include their respective heirs, successors and assigns where the 
context requires or permits). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) in hand paid, at 

and before the sealing and delivery of these presents, and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Grantor has granted, bargained, 
sold, conveyed and confirmed, and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell, convey and 
confirm unto the said Grantee the following described property: 

 
All those certain roads situate, lying and being in Effingham County, Georgia, 
consisting of the entire rights-of-way located within OGLETHORPE 
LANDING SUBDIVISION PHASE 2 as shown upon a plat entitled 
““OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION-PHASE 2” recorded in Plat 
Book ____, Page ______ the office of the Clerk of Superior Court of 
Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the 
“OGLETHORPE LANDING, PHASE 2”). It is the intention of the Grantor to 
convey to the Grantee all of its  interest in the aforenamed streets or rights of 
way for public access. Subject to that certain Utility Easement Agreement dated 
___________2024, by and between Grantor and the City of Springfield, Georgia, 
recorded in Deed Book ___, Page ____ in the Office of Superior Court of 
Effingham County, Georgia. 
 
Grantor further conveys all right, title and interest in and to the drainage 

improvements, within said right-of-way and public easement, all located within 
OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION, PHASE 2 as shown on the above-referenced 
plat which are incorporated herein for descriptive and all other purposes. However, this 
Warranty Deed excludes all water and sewer systems and lines lying within the said right-of-
way and public easement all located within OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION, 
PHASE 2, as shown on the aforedescribed plats which is incorporated herein for descriptive and 
all other purposes. 

19

Item X. 3.



 

 

 
 

 
A non-exclusive perpetual e a s e m e n t  t o  i ns t a l l , m a i n t a i n ,  repair  and  replace  

any improvements for water systems and sewer systems located within the rights of way of these roads 
is hereby acknowledged to exist with the owner or owners of those systems. The Board of 
Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia shall have no obligation to install, maintain, repair or 
replace any of the water and sewer systems. 
 

Together with a perpetual, non-exclusive, appurtenant, commercial, transmissible general 
utility easement for the installation, construction, maintenance, operation, repair, and 
replacement of permanent above ground or underground utilities and for the inspection of the 
storm water management facilities, over, through and across and in those areas designated as utility 
easements and drainage easements, including the right to ingress and egress over the easements, 
all located within OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION, PHASE 2 as shown on the 
aforementioned plat which is incorporated herein for descriptive and all other purposes. 
 

Further, this Warranty Deed does not include the conveyance of any detention ponds, 
sidewalks, parking lots, pavilions or common areas. 
 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD said road and easements, with all and singular the rights, 
members, and appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging, or in anywise appertaining, to 
the only proper use, benefit, and behoof of the said Grantee forever, in fee simple. 
 

AND THE SAID Grantor will warrant and forever defend the right and title to the above      
described property unto the said Grantee against the claims of all persons whomsoever. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Grantor has hereunto set its hand and seal, on the day 
and year first above written. 
 
 

CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, LLC, a Georgia limited 
liability company  
 
 
__________________________________(SEAL) 
BY: __________________________ 
 
 

Signed, sealed and delivered in   
presence of: 

 
 

Witness 
 

    Notary Public 

20

Item X. 3.



 

 
 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO THIS ____ DAY OF _________, 2024. 
 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
EFFINGHAM COUNTY, 
GEORGIA 

 
 

BY:    
Wesley Corbitt ,                    Chairman 

 

ATTEST:    
Stephanie Johnson, Effingham County Clerk 

 
 
 

Signed, sealed and delivered in 
the presence of: 

 
 
 

Witness 
 
 
 

    Notary Public 

21

Item X. 3.



1 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE AGREEMENT 
 

 This Infrastructure Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ___ day of ______, 2023 by and 
between THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, a 
political subdivision of the State of Georgia, having its principal place of 
business at 601 N. Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 (hereinafter, the 
“County”), THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, GEORGIA, a Georgia municipal 
corporation, having its principal place of business at 130 S. Laurel Street, 
Springfield, GA 31329 (hereinafter, the “City”), and CONSTRUCTION 
DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, 
having its principal place of business at ______________________ (hereinafter, 
“CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS”).  
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS is the 
fee owner of certain land OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION as 
shown upon a plat entitled “OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION-
PHASE 2” recorded in Plat Book ____, Page ______ the office of the Clerk of 
Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the 
“OGLETHORPE LANDING-PHASE 2”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, LLC 
and the City have entered into a Utility Easement Agreement (attached 
hereto as “Exhibit 1”) granting the City the right to use and exercise all 
rights in and to the utility easement as shown on that certain map or plat 
entitled “_____________________________ and recorded in Plat Cabinet _____, 
Page _________ in the records of the Clerk of Superior Court of Effingham 
County, attached hereto as Exhibit B to Exhibit 1 and made a part hereof by 
this reference (hereinafter referred to as “Easement Premises”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS and 
the City have entered into a Water and Sewer Service Agreement (attached 
hereto as “Exhibit 2”) in order for the City to provide the OGLETHORPE 
LANDING-PHASE 2 with potable water and sanitary sewer services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, OGLETHORPE LANDING-PHASE 2 is not located within 
the City’s corporate boundaries, but is located within the City’s water and 
sewer service delivery area; and 
 

22

Item X. 3.



2 
 

 WHEREAS, the OGLETHORPE LANDING-PHASE 2 is located within 
unincorporated Effingham County; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County intends to accept dedication of the roads and 
rights-of-way shown on Exhibit B to Exhibit 1; and 
 
 WHEREAS, portions of the utility infrastructure currently owned by 
CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, which include, without 
limitation: lines, pipes, and any other necessary or desirable appurtenances 
to and/or for a utility system and/or utility facilities necessary for the 
provision of water and sewer services to OGLETHORPE LANDING-PHASE 
2  (collectively, the “Facilities”) are or will be located within the County-
owned right-of-way should the County accept dedication of the roads and 
rights-of-way shown on Exhibit B to Exhibit 1; and 
 
 WHEREAS, portions of the Facilities are or will be located inside the 
County-owned rights-of-way; and 
 
 WHEREAS, absent agreement to the contrary, property located within 
a county-owned right-of-way can become the property of that county; and  
 
 WHERAS, the County does not want to own or maintain the Facilities; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City’s perpetual ownership of the Facilities is 
paramount to the City’s provision of utility services to OGLETHORPE 
LANDING-PHASE 2; and  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the sum of Ten 
Dollars ($10.00) and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency 
of which are hereby acknowledged under seal, the County, the City, and 
CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Ownership of the Facilities within the County-owned Right-of-Way. If 
the City accepts dedication of the Facilities and the County accepts 
dedication of the roads and rights-of-way shown on Exhibit B to 
Exhibit 1, the City shall forever be the sole owner of the Facilities 
located within the County-owned roads and rights-of-way, regardless of 
whether the Facilities are currently within the County-owned roads 
and rights-of-way, or placed there in the future. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned parties have executed, or 

caused this Infrastructure Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized 
representatives, under the seal as of the day and year above written.  

23

Item X. 3.



3 
 

 
            BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
            EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA  
 

By:      ___________________________________                                                               
            Wesley Corbitt 

Its:        Chairman 
                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                        

ATTEST:       ___________________________________                                                     
 Stephanie Johnson 
 Effingham County Clerk 
 

      THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 
 
By:         

      Barton A. Alderman 
Mayor, City of Springfield 

 
CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT 
INVESTORS, LLC 

By:         

      , Manager  
 
 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered this  
____ day of _____________, 2023, in 
the presence of: 
 
___________________________ 
WITNESS 
 
___________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 

This Agreement is approved as to form: 
 
 
    By:        
     Lee Newberry 
     Effingham County Attorney 

24

Item X. 3.



4 
 

 
 
    By:         
     Benjamin M. Perkins 
     City Attorney, City of Springfield 

25

Item X. 3.



5 
 

EXHIBIT 1 

Utility Easement Agreement between the City of Springfield, Georgia and 
CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, LLC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26

Item X. 3.



6 
 

EXHIBIT 2 

Water and Sewer Service Agreement between the City of Springfield, Georgia and 
CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT INVESTORS, LLC 

 

27

Item X. 3.



 

 
173 Cubbedge Drive • Post Office Box 1749 • Rincon, Georgia 31326 

Telephone:  (912) 667-2667 • E-mail: tallen@allenengineering.org 

 
 
December 22, 2023 
 
 
 
Ms. Chelsie Fernald 
Effingham County Development Services 
601 N. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
RE:    OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION PHASE 2 
         PROJECT NO:      22-005 

 
 

Dear Ms. Fernald: 
 
Listed below is our bond recommendation for the above referenced project. This project 
consists of forty-five (45) single family residential lots with roads and storm drainage 
infrastructure. The project is being served by City of Springfield Water and Sewer 
infrastructure. The roads and storm drainage are intended to be deeded to Effingham 
County. The bond request is for 10% of the total construction cost associated with the items 
to be deeded to the county upon completion. 
 
 
 

Phase 2 Total Cost  $ 559,761.00 
 
Total Bond Amount  $ 55,976.10 

 
 
 
Please let me know if you need any additional information. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Anthony T. Allen, P.E. 

28

Item X. 3.



BOND ESTIMATE FOR

OGLETHORPE LANDING SUBDIVISION

ROAD AND STORM INFRASTRUCTURE

12/22/23

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNITS QTY Unit Price Bid Price

*** BASE AND PAVING ***

1 Haul, place and compact 8" of GABC for asphalt paving 
(5,760 SY) TN 2,592 55.00$              142,560.00$       

2 1.5" of 9.5 mm paving for LD paving SY 5,760 9.80$                56,448.00$         
3 2" of 19 mm paving for LD paving SY 5,760 12.00$              69,120.00$         
4 Grade for concrete and valley gutters at intersection LS JOB  $         2,500.00  $          2,500.00 
5 Fine Grade Subbase and Stone SY 5,760 6.00$                34,560.00$         

6 Fine Grading for Curb and Gutter LF 3716 2.00$                7,432.00$           

SUBTOTAL 312,620.00$      

*** STORM DRAINAGE ***
1 18" RCP (0-6) LF 443 43.00$              19,049.00$         
2 24" RCP (0-6) LF 192 57.00$              10,944.00$         
3 24" RCP (6-8) LF 261 57.00$              14,877.00$         
4 30" RCP (6-8) LF 60 75.00$              4,500.00$           
5 36" RCP (6-8) LF 185 92.00$              17,020.00$         
6 42" RCP (8-10) LF 200 127.00$            25,400.00$         
7 30" Flared End Section EA 2 1,500.00$         3,000.00$           
8 36" Flared End Section EA 1 1,920.00$         1,920.00$           
9 42" Flared End Section EA 1 2,440.00$         2,440.00$           
10 Storm Manhole (6-8) EA 1 3,100.00$         3,100.00$           
11 Curb Inlet Type B Right (0-6) EA 4 4,200.00$         16,800.00$         
12 Curb Inlet Type B Left (0-6) EA 4 4,200.00$         16,800.00$         
13 Curb Inlet Type B Left (6-8) EA 1 4,500.00$         4,500.00$           
14 Curb Inlet Type C (0-6) EA 3 4,200.00$         12,600.00$         
15 Curb Inlet Type C (6-8) EA 1 4,500.00$         4,500.00$           
16 Grate Inlet (0-6) EA 1 4,200.00$         4,200.00$           
17 Outfall Control Structure EA 1 4,200.00$         4,200.00$           
18 Stone for bedding TN 100 82.00$              8,200.00$           
19 Testing and cleaning LS 1 1,500.00$         1,500.00$           

SUBTOTAL 175,550.00$      

*** CONCRETE WORK ***
1 18" Rollover Curb and Gutter LF 3716 15.00$              55,740.00$         
2 Header Curb LF 24 40.00$              960.00$              
3 Concrete Swales and Fillets SY 160 65.00$              10,400.00$         
4 18" Wide by 8" Thick Valley Gutter LF 144 14.00$              2,016.00$           
5 4" Thick Concrete for Mailboxes SY 15 65.00$              975.00$              
6 Striping and Signage LS 1 1,500.00$         1,500.00$           

SUBTOTAL 71,591.00$        

559,761.00$      

BOND 55,976.10$        Maintenance Bond (10% of the Cost to Install Road and Storm Infrastructure)

Road and Storm Total

1 of 1
29

Item X. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Final Plat Approval (Second District) 
Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date:  February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Stuart Barney, requests approval of the final plat and infrastructure 
agreement for Creekside Phase 2A. Map #436 Parcel# 46 & 46A  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the plat, and inspected the roads and drainage infrastructure identified in the 
warranty deed, and recommends approval.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Dream Finders Homes contractors have built roads and drainage infrastructure for Phase 2A of 

Creekside in order to sell the 155 lots in this PD subdivision.  
• Effingham County will provide water & Sewer service.  
• EOM inspected all roads, right-of-ways, and drainage infrastructure that is being dedicated to 

the county and has requested a 2nd Inspection to verify the installation of the Signage and 
Striping.  

• Development Services Staff reviewed the Final Plat and Final Plat Checklist. GIS Staff has 
requested some changes be made to the Final Plat.  

• Our County Engineer has reviewed the Warranty Bond Recommendation, which is correct.  
• Staff has received a digital copy of the Letter of Credit for the Performance Bond for the 

construction of the Fence between this phase of Creekside and the existing Park West Phase 2.  
• Development Services has not received the Bond as of 1/26/24.  
• The County Attorney has reviewed and approved the warranty deed and infrastructure 

agreement with changes. 
• Staff has been in communication with the applicant to receive the corrected Plat. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the final plat and infrastructure agreement for Creekside Phase 2A, and accept the 

roads and drainage infrastructure identified in the warranty deed with the following conditions: 
a. The applicant submits a corrected Final Plat. 

2. Take no action 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Final Plat for Creekside Phase 2A  

2. Warrant Deed  
3. Bond  

   

30

Item X. 4.



PARK 5

POND
2

POND
1

PARK 6

PARK 4

PARK 3

108

107106105
104

103

81

82
83

84

85
86

87

80

88

8990

91

92

93

94

95

96

9798
99

100

101

102

155154
153152151

125

126127128129

147 148 149

130
131

132
133

135

136
137

138
139

140

141

142
143

144
145

146

134

150

WETLAND AREA 6
0.60 AC.

POND
4

S
A

W
Y

E
R

 C
O

U
R

T
 - 50' R

/W

BENCHMARK

NAIL SET IN 13" PINE
ELEV.=20.14 NAVD 88

SAWYER COURT - 50' R/W

C
R

E
E

K
S

ID
E

  B
O

U
L

E
V

A
R

D
 - 5

0
' R

/W

Established  1958

HUSSEY GAY  BELL

329 COMMERCIAL  D RIVE , S AVANNAH , GA  31406 / T:912.354.4626

MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT

CREEKSIDE PHASE 2
LANDS OF CREEKSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC, 9TH G.M. DISTRICT, EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA

FOR: VILLAGE PARK HOMES

”

31

Item X. 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
71

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
72

AutoCAD SHX Text
73

AutoCAD SHX Text
74

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' DRAINAGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' DRAINAGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCHMARK NAIL SET IN 12" OAK ELEV. 20.48 NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCHMARK BOLT FOUND IN 18" OAK ELEV. 20.56 NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE A

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE A

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE A

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE A

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID NORTH - GA. EAST ZONE - NAD 83

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAT DATE: JULY 11, 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ERROR OF CLOSURE: PLAT - 1/542,778

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ERROR OF CLOSURE: FIELD - 1/85,548

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANGULAR ERROR: 1" PER POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQUIPMENT USED: TOTAL STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS BLOCK RESERVED FOR THE CLERK OF THE SUPERIOR COURT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION:LSF300

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHATHAM COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES: 1. IN MY OPINION, IN ACCORDANCE WITH F.I.R.M. MAP NO. 13103C0360E, EFFECTIVE DATE MARCH 16, 2015, PORTIONS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ARE LOCATED WITHIN THE 100-YEAR FLOOD PLAIN.  2. NO GUARANTEE, EITHER STATED OR IMPLIED IS MADE THAT THIS PROPERTY IS NOT SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS, CLAIMS, PRESCRIPTIONS, RESTRICTIONS, SUB-SURFACE CONDITIONS, OR ANY OTHER MATTERS OF TITLE THAT ARE NOT VISIBLE, NOT DISCLOSED, OR NOT DISCOVERED BY THE TITLE EXAMINATION. 3. THIS SURVEY DOES NOT ADDRESS ANY ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES. 4. THE COORDINATES AND BEARING, AS SHOWN HEREON, ARE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GEORGIA STATE PLANE GRID COORDINATE SYSTEM, EAST ZONE NAD'83.   5. PARENT PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 04360046 & 0460046A00 6. PROPERTY CORNERS ARE MARKED WITH 5/8” IRON PIN UNLESS OTHERWISE  IRON PIN UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 7. THE WETLAND AND BUFFER AREAS SHOWN HEREON ARE UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS AND/OR THE STATE OF GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND ANY DISTURBANCE OF THESE PROTECTED AREAS WITHOUT PROPER AUTHORIZATION AND PERMIT IS SUBJECT TO PENALTY BY LAW. 8. ALL ROAD RIGHT OF WAYS WILL BE DEDICATED TO THE COUNTY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD DATE: FEBRUARY 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
HWY. 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARIBBEAN VILLAGE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE SUBDIVISION PH 1 P.B. 28 PG. 923-926

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE SUBDIVISION PH 1 P.B. 28 PG. 923-926

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1 P.B. 28, PG. 923-926 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1 P.B. 28, PG. 602 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1 P.B. 28, PG. 923-926 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMAINDER TRACT 1 P.B. 29, PG. 58 

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F086 ALLEN & DONNA LEAB

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F087 TRISHA CUTRO

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F088 SHARON GARCIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F089 DEONE WILSON & JASPER HOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F090 BENJAMIN AKERS & ANITA REICHARDT

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F091 MICHAEL & KAILEY ALLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F092 GARY LEESUE & TARA WHITTAKER

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F093 JERRY BOWLIN, ETAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F094 HASHIM & MARYLOU JOHNSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
0418F001J00 DR HORTON INC

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK WEST SOUTH EFFINGHAM PHASE 2 BLOCK A PC C82 PG C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE SUDIVISION PLAT KNOWN AS CREEKSIDE PHASE 2 HAS BEEN FOUND TO COMPLY WITH THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS AND WAS APPROVED BY THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR RECORDING IN THE OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF SUPERIOR COURT OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA DATE CHAIRMAN OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WITNESS CLERK OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED THAT A CORPORATION DULY ORGANIZED AND EXISTING UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA BY, VILLAGE PARK HOMES IS THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY SHOWN AND DESCRIBED THEREON, AND THAT ALL STREETS, ALLEYS, WALKS, PARKS, AND OTHER SITES SHOWN HEREON ARE DEDICATED TO PUBLIC OR PRIVATE USE AS NOTED.                                 VILLAGE PARK HOMES WITNESS                         CORPORATE NAME WITNESS                         OWNER           

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS REQUIRED BY SUBSECTION (D) OF O.C.G.A. SECTION 15-6-67, THIS PLAT HAS  BEEN PREPARED BY A LAND SURVEYOR AND APPROVED BY ALL APPLICABLE LOCAL JURISDICTIONS FOR RECORDING AS EVIDENCED BY APPROVAL CERTIFICATES, SIGNATURES, STAMPS, OR STATEMENTS HEREON. SUCH APPROVALS OR AFFIRMATIONS SHOULD BE CONFIRMED WITH THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNMENTAL BODIES BY ANY PURCHASER OR USER OF THIS PLAT AS TO INTENDED USE OF ANY PARCEL. FURTHERMORE, THE UNDERSIGNED LAND SURVEYOR CERTIFIES THAT THIS PLAT COMPLIES WITH THE MINIMUM TECHNICAL STANDARDS FOR PROPERTY SURVEYS IN GEORGIA AS SET FORTH IN THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GEORGIA BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS AND AS SET FORTH IN O.C.G.A. SECTION 15-6-67.



9132045680 
PARTICIPANT ID 
 

Return to: 
Effingham Board of Commissioners 
601 North Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA  ) 
                                                ) 
COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM ) 
 

WARRANTY DEED 
 

 THIS INDENTURE, made this ____ day of _____________, 2024, between VILLAGE PARK HOMES, 
LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company, as Party of the First Part, hereinafter referred to as 
Grantor, and the BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY,  GEORGIA, as Party of the 
Second Part, hereinafter referred to as Grantee (the words “Grantor and “Grantee” to include their 
respective, successors and assigns where the context requires or permits). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

 FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) in hand paid, at and before 
the sealing and delivery of these presents, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of 
which is herby acknowledged, Grantor has granted, bargained, sold, conveyed and con�irmed, and by 
this presents does grant, bargain, sell, convey and con�irm unto the said Grantee the following 
described property within Creekside Subdivision, Phase 2A, to wit: 
 
All those certain lots, tracts or parcels of land situate, lying and being in the 9th G.M. District of 
Ef�ingham County, Georgia, and being shown and designated as the street and right of way known 
and depicted as “Sawyer Court” on that certain Final Plat of Phase 2A Creekside Subdivision, located 
in 9th G.M. District, Ef�ingham County, Georgia, prepared by P. Nathan Brown, GA PLS No. 3185, Hussey, 
Gay, Bell & Deyoung Inc., dated __________________, 2024, in the Of�ice of the Clerk of the Superior Court 
of Ef�ingham County, Georgia, in Plat Book ______, Page __________, said plat is incorporated herein by 
speci�ic reference for a more particular description of the property herein conveyed.  It is the 
intention of the Grantor to convey to the Grantee all of its interest in the above – described street and 
right of way for public access.  
 
TOGETHER WITH the water and sanitary sewer systems, and drainage improvements located within 
said properties, rights-of-way and public easements, all located within Creekside Subdivision Phase 
2A, as shown on the aforementioned plat which are incorporated herein for descriptive and all other 
purposes but speci�ically excluding all sewer laterals, detention ponds, common areas, side walks, 
and any portion of the water system from the water meter to the any residence.  

 
TOGETHER WITH a perpetual, non-exclusive appurtenant, commercial, transmissible general utility 
easement for the installation, construction, maintenance, operation, repair and replacement of 
permanent above ground or underground utilities over, through and across and in those areas 
designated as utility easements, and drainage easements, including the right to ingress and egress 
over the easements, all located within Creekside Subdivision, Phase 2A, as shown on the 
aforementioned plat which is incorporated herein for descriptive and all other purposes.  
 

32

Item X. 4.



TO HAVE AND TO HOLD said property, together with all and singular the rights, members, 
and appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging or in any wise appertaining to the only 
proper use, bene�it and behoof of the said Grantee forever, in fee simple. 
 

AND THE SAID  Grantor will warrant and forever defend the right and title to the above-
described property unto the said Grantee against the claims of all persons whomsoever. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Grantor has hereunto set its hand and seal, on the day and 

year �irst above written. 
 
 
      VILLAGE PARK HOMES, LLC, 
      a South Carolina limited liability company 

 
       By:  ________________________ 
        
       Name:  ________________________ 
 
       Its: ________________________ 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
in the presence of: 
 
_____________________ 
 Witness 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public 
 
 
 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO THIS ______ DAY ______________, 2024. 

 
      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  
      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA,  
       

 
       By:  ________________________ 
         

Wesley Corbitt 
        Chairman At Large 
        

Attest:  ________________________ 
         
        Stephanie Johnson 
        Ef�ingham County Clerk 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
in the presence of: 
 
_____________________ 
 Witness 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public 

33

Item X. 4.



34

Item X. 4.



35

Item X. 4.



36

Item X. 4.



37

Item X. 4.



38

Item X. 4.



39

Item X. 4.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of an Amended PO for the purchase of three Ambulances for EMS 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EMS 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: Amended PO for the purchase of three Ambulances 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the amended PO for the 

purchase of three (3) ambulances for EMS  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In October of 2021, the Board of Commissioners approved a PO with Custom 

Truck and Body Works, Inc. for the purchase of three ambulances for EMS. The 

initial cost for the ambulances were $178,504.79 each which included a chassis 

price of $50,829.00. 

 Due to covid and the supply chain issues, Ford Motor Company cancelled the 

three ambulances that were ordered.  The order bank has re-opened for the 

2023-year model, but the chassis price has increased by $10,723.58, bringing 

the total cost per ambulance to $189,228.37. This price change was approved in 

February 2023. 

 Now that the chassis’ are finally being built and soon to be received, Custom has 

had to re-evaluate the pricing for the build of the ambulance. All pricing has 

increased since the original approval in 2021, including all the additional 

materials/equipment needed to complete the build. Present day pricing for the 

ambulance would be $251,012.00. Custom is requesting that the price for the 

three (3) ambulances be increased to $215,200.00. This would price match the 

other two (2) ambulances approved in PO 23-19-001 approved September 2022.  

 Given the need for the new ambulances, staff is requesting approval of the 

updated PO. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Ratification of approval of the amended PO 22-19-001-2 in the amount of 

$645,600.00 for the purchase of three ambulances for EMS. 

2. Take no action.  

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EMS, Purchasing, Finance, County Manager 

Funding Source: 2021 SPLOST, budget amendment may be needed 

Attachments: Amended PO 22-19-001-2 

40

Item X. 5.



1

Alison M. Bruton

From: Jimmy Gill <jimmy@customtruckandbodyworks.com>
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 4:07 PM
To: Alison M. Bruton
Cc: Wanda McDuffie; Charles Roy
Subject: FW: EXTERNAL:CUSTOM TRUCK AND BODY WORKS INC. - ATTACHED UPDATED CHASSIS 

QUOTATION ON THE FIRST THREE UNITS
Attachments: EFFINGHAM COUNTY-CHASSIS PRICE INCREASE EXPLANATION LETTER-1-19-2023.pdf; Effingham 

County U029 . U033 x5.pdf; Effingham F4G Quote 9-29 (2).pdf; EFFINGHAM-TYPE I FORD F350 
QUOTATION-1-19-2024.pdf; EFFINGHAM-TYPE I F450 4X2 DIESEL-QUOTATION-CUSTOMER 
SUPPLIED PL-COT-9-12-2022.pdf

Good afternoon,  
 
I hope you both had a good Friday. I have attached the initial price of the chassis and the explanation letter in which we 
addressed earlier in the year of 2023 along with other attachments that are explained below. Per our conversations we 
have had to go back to multiple customers for price increases on units that were sold years back. Not only have we had 
to do this on the chassis as we did previously hope it would be the final price increase, but now we are having to reach 
back out regarding the products in which it takes to assemble a completed ambulance. 
 
Over the past two years items such as aluminum, sirens, lights, speakers, wiring, any part in which it takes to 
manufacture an ambulance has increased. For example, Stryker has had four price increases since the initial bid. Items 
that used to cost us $20,000.00 are not costing us closer to $30,000.00. Initially we had hoped that by departments 
covering the chassis increase we would be able to build the unit and maintain some profit. Upon further assessment we 
have found that if we were to manufacture the units quoted back in 2021 we would lose money due to increases from 
our vendors. We understand that this is frustrating not only for your department, but we also share the frustration being 
that it was not caused by us or Effingham County.  
 
Considering all of this we have found that we can maintain some margin and honor bid #23‐19‐001 for the price of 
$215,200.00 for each unit. As of today, this same unit would be bid at the price of $251,012.00 each as I have attached 
in this email. We obviously aren’t asking the county or the department to pay this amount on a previously bid unit. We 
are trying to establish a way in which we can maintain some profitability and honor pricing on previously bid units in 
hopes we can still provide Effingham County with ambulances. Your county has been a great customer of ours and was 
the first department I sold to when I first started at Custom Truck and Body Works Inc. I hope that the board can 
understand these increases as it is frustrating and at the same time a hard thing to have to ask. Unfortunately, in 
business we must maintain some profits to feed our employees and families.  
 
If you are needing anything additional or need any help at all presenting this to the board, please let me know and I will 
be happy to assist. Enjoy your weekend. Thank you for understanding.  
 
 
Jimmy Gill – Chief Executive Officer 
Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. 
M:706-977-7095 
P: 706.553.9178 
F: 706.553.9179 

41

Item X. 5.



 
 

Subject: Important Announcement: Price Adjustment on Booked Orders 

Dear valued customers and partners, 

I hope this letter finds you well. As we navigate through the challenges posed by the 

previous COVID-19 pandemic, I want to take a moment to express my gratitude for your 

continued support of Custom Truck and Body Works Inc. Your trust and partnership 

mean the world to us. 

It is with a sense of responsibility and transparency that I am reaching out to you today. 

Over the past several months, our industry, like many others, has encountered 

unforeseen challenges that have impacted our operations. Unfortunately, one of the key 

challenges we are currently facing is significant delays from our chassis manufacturers 

and significant price increases from our vendors. 

As you are likely aware, the pandemic has disrupted supply chains across the globe, 

leading to shortages and delays in the production and delivery of crucial components. In 

our case, these delays have affected the timely receipt of chassis for our custom 

vehicles. 

In our commitment to delivering the highest quality products to our customers, we have 

explored various avenues to mitigate the impact of these delays. Regrettably, despite 

our best efforts, the chassis delays persist, necessitating difficult decisions. 

After careful consideration and thorough evaluation of our cost structure, it is with a 

heavy heart that I must inform you of an unavoidable price adjustment on booked 

orders. This adjustment is reflective of the increased costs we are incurring due to the 

extended lead times and delays in chassis deliveries. 

I understand that any price increase can be challenging, especially in these uncertain 

times. Please know that this decision was not made lightly, and we have worked 

diligently to minimize the impact on our valued customers. Our team remains 

committed to providing you with the exceptional products and service you have come 

to expect from Custom Truck and Body Works Inc. 

42

Item X. 5.



 
We are dedicated to maintaining open lines of communication with you throughout this 

process. If you have any concerns or questions regarding the price adjustment or the 

status of your order, please do not hesitate to reach out to our sales department at 

charles@customtruckandbodyworks.com or our office at 706-553-9178. 

I sincerely appreciate your understanding and continued partnership as we navigate 

through these unprecedented times together. Our team is working tirelessly to address 

the challenges at hand and deliver on our commitment to excellence. 

Thank you for your trust, and I look forward to our continued collaboration. 

Warm regards, 

Jimmy Gill CEO, Custom Truck and Body Works Inc. 
 

43

Item X. 5.

mailto:charles@customtruckandbodyworks.com


804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:

SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #

Phone: 912-754-2159

Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO

Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. Effingham County Board of Commissioners

PO Box 718 804 S.Laurel Street

13787 White House Road Springfield, GA 31329

Woodbury, GA 30293 ATTN : Alison Bruton

ATTN : Jimmy Gill 912-754-2159

706-977-7095 (cell) / 706-553-9178 (office)

ITEM # QTY

3

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS

ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  

CUSTOM TRUCK & BODY WORKS - SIGNATURE TITLE

  

CUSTOM TRUCK & BODY WORKS - PRINT NAME DATE

 

  

AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 

AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

 

 

WESLEY CORBITT

-$                 

-$                 

-$                 

Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc.  agrees to furnish three (3) new ambulances and stretchers as described in the County’s  RFP  

22-19-001 and related addendums.  The County references  the terms, conditions and specifications contained in the County’s 

RFP No. 22-19-001 and related addendums as superseding any and all other contracts, Purchase Orders or Agreements. 

CHAIRMAN

645,600.00$   

TAX

S & H

OTHER

TOTAL

TAX RATE

645,600.00$   

-$                 

SUBTOTAL

 

 

UNIT PRICE

645,600.00$   

AMENDED PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

AMENDED

Updated pricing for three (3) ambulances per the attached proposal

 

 

1/25/2024

22-19-001-2

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL

$215,200.00

44

Item X. 5.



Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc.
Manufacturers of Custom Emergency Apparatuses

13787 White House Rd
Woodbury, GA 30293
United States
Main Line: 706-655-4300

 
Quote #: Q-00334-1
Date: 9/1/2022 4:16 PM
Expires On: 12/8/2022

 
SHIPPING
WANDA MCDUFFIE
Effingham County
,
(912) 754-2148
wmcduffie@effinghamcounty.org
 

 
BILL TO
Effingham County EMS
,

Name Direct Line E-Mail Address
Jimmy Gill (706) 977-7095 jimmy@customtruckandbodyworks.com

Payment Terms Delivery Method Delivery Terms
Due on Receipt Pickup at CTBW 120 to 150 Business Days After Receipt of

Chassis
 
 
 

Dear WANDA MCDUFFIE,
 

Custom Truck and Body Works would like to thank you for the opportunity
to work with your department on this project. We have prepared this quote
based on the information that has been provided to us. We are certain that
we can meet or exceed any needs and expectations you may have. Please
review the attached documents and if there should be any questions,
clarifications or any additional information please do not hesitate to contact
me. We look forward to hearing from you soon.
 

Sincerely,
Jimmy Gill

 
 

Type I 12' Ambulance - Ford F450 4x2 Diesel

$215,200 Each

45

Item X. 5.



MODULAR BODY

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Modular Body - Type I 12' The ambulance body 149"L x 96"W x72"H shall be constructed
of custom designed aluminum extrusions and aluminum

plate. The ambulance body shall be designed and engineered
specifically as an emergency vehicle and shall be built to
meet the heavy-duty requirements of emergency service.

CHASSIS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Chassis - Ford F450 -
 4x2 - Diesel - 84CA

The cab-chassis shall be suitable for subsequent mounting of
a modular (containerized) transferable equipped ambulance

body conforming to the requirements specified herein.
 

*Ford F-450 XLT, 2 Wheel Drive Chassis-Cab.
*165” Wheelbase – 84” Cab-Axle – 14,000 lbs. GVWR

*6.7L Power Stroke® V-8 Diesel Engine – 300 HP / 660 lb/ft. Torque
*10-Speed TorqShift® Automatic

SelectShift® OverdriveTransmission
* Wide Track Rear Axle – 4.10 Rear Axle Ratio

*Brakes – 4-wheel Disc Anti-lock, Hydra-Boost Power Assist
*Stabilizer Bar – Front and Rear

*LT245/75Rx17E All-Season Radial Tires – Highway Tread
*Spare Tire and Wheel – Full Size

*Seats, Front Captain’s Chairs
*Ambulance/ Prep Package – 47L with

EPA Special Emergency Vehicle Emissions
*Engine Block Heater (wired to Shoreline)

*Dual Heavy-Duty 750 CCA / 78 Amp-
Hour, Maintenance Free Batteries

*Alternators – Dual Alternators – 357-Amps Total
*Fuel Tank, 40 Gallon

*Mirrors – Heated Power-Adjusted
*Power Windows

*Power Door Locks
*Cruise Control / Tilt Steering Wheel

84" CA
OEM WHITE

(3) KEY FOBS
GPS

OEM BACKUP CAMERA

1 Each Back Up Camera - OEM - Ford An OEM Ford backup camera shall be ordered with the
chassis and installed on the rear of the module. The

camera shall function with the digital display on the dash.

1 Each Chassis Add On #1 Non Standard Additional Chassis Add On

LED LIGHT BAR MOUNTED ON BRUSH GUARD

Page 1 of 12

46

Item X. 5.



CHASSIS ADD ON

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Set Wheel Inserts - Phoenix -
 Ford F450/F550 (Standard)

Chrome wheel simulators shall be installed on the chassis wheels.

1 Set Running Boards - Driver
& Passenger - Reg

Cab - NFPA (Standard)

Diamond plate running boards shall be provided and installed on the
cab of the module to the chassis manufacturers recommendation.

2 Set Lights - Grille - ION Red w
Clear Lens LED (Standard)

Whelen ION series Red LED warning light with clear lens
and chrome flange installed on the front grill of the chassis.

2 Set Lights - Front Intersection
- ION Red w Clear

Lens LED (Standard)

Whelen ION series Red LED warning light with clear lens
and chrome flange installed on the fenders of the chassis.

1 Set Speaker - Cast - Ford F350/
F450/F550 (Standard)

Two (2) 100-watt speakers shall be
installed through the front OEM bumper.

2 Set Fire Extinguisher - 5Lb
w/ Bracket (Standard)

5lb Fire Extinguisher shall be shipped loose.

1 Each Suspension - Liquid Springs
- 2021 Ford F450/F550

CLASS (Compressible Liquid Adaptive Suspension System)
Liquid Spring Suspension System is a smart suspension

system for Ambulances. Liquid-based struts and an on-board
processor to provide better handling and control. System must
provide a smoother, and softer ride. This reduced Ambulance

vibration increases comfort and lower maintenance costs.

1 Set Mud Flaps Set of heavy-duty, thick rubber material mud
flaps shall be as wide as the dual rear wheels.

1 Each Spare Tire A spare tire shall be provided with the chassis.

1 Each Alarm - Backup An audible alarm shall be installed to activate when the
vehicle is placed into reverse gear. There shall be installed
on the front console and wired through the vehicle electrical

system, a momentary cutoff switch to disable the alarm.

1 Each Brush Guard - Black
Ranch Hand with Grille

Guard - F350/F450/F550

Page 2 of 12

47

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Set Engine Block Heater
- Wire - Shoreline

The chassis engine block heater shall be wired to shoreline power.

CHASSIS CONSOLE

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Console - Wood -
 Gray (Standard)

A wood scorpion coated console with (2) cup holders and map
slot shall be provided between the driver and passenger seat.

2 Each Siren - (Standard) A Whelen 295SLSA1 single tone siren
shall be installed in the cab console.

1 Each Spotlight - Go Light
LED w Remote Control

12V LED spotlight shall be installed on the cab roof.

L1 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each L1 Compartment Street Side Forward Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W20"x D22"

1 Each O2 Bracket Kit -
 Electric - H Cylinder

There shall be a Zico Electric Lift Cylinder Bracket O2 bottle
mount to allow the department to utilize both “H” cylinder bottle.

1 Each O2 Wrench An aluminum O2 wrench provided near the
O2 bracket in the Oxygen compartment.

1 Each Oxygen Regulator - 50 PSI 50 PSI Pre-Set diaphragm regulator with nut and nipple
connection for large cylinders and preset to 50 PSI.

2 Each Portable O2 Bracket Kit -
 D Cylinder - Zico QR-D-2

Page 3 of 12

48

Item X. 5.



L2 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each L2 Compartment Street Side Intermediate Compartment
Dimensions: H40"x W30"x D20"

1 Each Panel - L2 - Inverter
- Vanner 1050

A Vanner 1050 watt Inverter with 50 amp battery charger shall be
provided and installed in the streetside exterior L2 compartment.

1 Each Inverter - Pre Wire A pre-wire for installation of the inverter
shall be provided in the L2 compartment.

L3 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each L3 Compartment (Standard) Street Side Rear Compartment Dimensions: H40"x W30"x D20"

Double doors on compartment

1 Each Adjustable Shelf -
 L3 Compartment

A horizontal aluminum adjustable shelf/shelves shall be
provided in the L3 compartment mounted on shelf track.

R3 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each R3 Compartment Curb Side Rear Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W15"x D20"

(2) straps and buckles across the back board storage area

2 Each Adjustable Shelf -
 R3 Compartment

A horizontal aluminum adjustable shelf/shelves shall be
provided in the R3 compartment mounted on shelf track.

1 Each Backboard Divider -
 R3 Compartment

A vertical divider shall be mounted
center of the back board compartment.

Page 4 of 12

49

Item X. 5.



R2 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each R2 Compartment Curb Side Intermediate Compartment
Dimensions: H20"x W24"x D20"

R1 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each R1 Compartment Curb Side Forward Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W18"x D20"

EMERGENCY LIGHT PACKAGE

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Set Lights - M Series - Red &
White LED Warning w Clear

Lens (7 Front Wall R/W/
R/W/R/W/R) (Standard)

Whelen M9 LED warning lights shall be installed on the module
in the specified configuration. (7) front wall lights, (4) side

body lights, (3) rear upper, and (2) lower window level lights.

2 Each Lights - Rear Intersection
- M7 Red LED w Clear
Lens - Warning Light

Whelen M7 LED warning lights shall be
installed above both rear wheels on the module

NON EMERGENCY LIGHT PACKAGE

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

2 Set Lights - Action Area/
Telemetry - LED

3" round led lights shall be located in
the action area and telemetry area.

1 Each Lights - Compartment - Single
- LED Strip Lights (Standard)

Each exterior compartment shall have one (1) strip LED
light installed full height on each side of the door opening.

10 Set Lights - Dome - Whelen
LED (Standard)

Whelen 8" LED Dome patient compartment lights with dual
level lighting will be located in the ceiling. *Exact location
& quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

Page 5 of 12

50

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

6 Set Lights - Scene -
 M9 LED (Standard)

Whelen M Series LED Scene Lights shall be installed (2)
two on rear, (2) per side of the ambulance modular body.

2 Set Lights - Stop/Turn/Tail -
 M6 Series LED (Standard)

Whelen M Series LED Brake, Back Up and Turn signals
with individual bezels installed on the rear of the module.

1 Set Lights - ICC Marker -
 Red & Amber LED

7 LED Red and & 7 LED Yellow ICC lights installed on
the upper module perimeter to meet DOT requirements.

1 Each Light - Stepwell - LED LED Stepwell light installed at the entry steps of the module.

1 Each Lights - Tag Bracket - LED LED lighting installed at the the tag
bracket to meet DOT requirements.

2 Set Lights - Docking
- 6" Oval White

6" LED lights installed at the rear bumper
to provide additional back up lighting.

MODULAR EXTERIOR

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Shoreline - 30A/120V -
 Auto Eject - Blue Cover

A 30 amp automatic power line disconnect system
shall be furnished for the vehicle shoreline.

2 Set Fenderette -
 Aluminum (Standard)

Polished aluminum fender flair shall be
installed around the rear wheel well openings.

1 Each Window - Side - Sliding
- Dark Tint (Standard)

Tinted high black aluminum framed sliding
window is to be centered on the side entry door.

2 Each Window - Rear - Fixed
- Dark Tint (Standard)

Tinted high black aluminum framed fixed window
is to be centered on each rear entry door.

Page 6 of 12

51

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 System Door Locks - Power - 6
Compartments & 2 Entry

Doors w Hidden Stealth Switch

Install Power Door locks on all Compartments and Patient
Entry Side and Rear Doors. Lock/unlock can be initiated by

key fob, remote switch or by Cab & Driver's Side electric locks.

1 Set Compartments - Scorpion
- Gray (Standard)

Scorpion coated finish on all exterior compartments.

1 Set Drip Rails - Aluminum

PAINT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Paint Type - Modular
Body - 1 Color

The module shall be a single tone paint to match
the OEM chassis or customer specified paint code.

1 Each Paint Type - Chassis
- OEM (Standard)

Chassis shall be painted OEM one color to match fleet.

VINYL GRAPHICS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Set Door Panels -
 Chevron (Standard)

Aluminum plate door panels on all exterior
doors with 12" of reflective chevron.

Orange and Blue

1 Each Vinyl Graphics -
 Star of Life (Large)

Large printed Star of Life, installed on the front or rear
of module. Printed on 3M IJ680CR reflective material.

**Color and location to be determined at Precon**

CUSTOM Swoosh and SOL to match existing units

1 Set Vinyl Graphics - Star of
Life Reflective Package

KKK-Spec reflective SOL package provided with
the graphics package. *Exact color and location

to be determined at the pre-construction meeting*

Page 7 of 12

52

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Set Vinyl Graphics -
 Lettering & Decals

Lettering and department decals designed
and printed on 3M 680CR reflective material
and laminated with UV protective laminate.

1 Each Rear Chevron - Reflective Printed rear chevrons that meets the existing fleet/
customer specifications. Printed on 3M IJ680CR

reflective material. **Color to be determined at Precon**

MODULAR INTERIOR

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Panel - Power - Location
- Interior (Standard)

A printed circuit board shall be installed in the
interior electrical cabinet behind attendant seat.

2 Set Antenna - Coax Two [2] 10-gauge power and two [2] ground wires, two
[2] RG58U coax cables, and two [2} PL259 connectors.

3 Each Outlet - 12V 12 Volt DC 20 Amp cigar style outlets will be located in the
action area and in the advanced life support cabinet. *Exact

location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

6 Each Outlet - 110V - Lighted 110 Volt AC GFI duplex lighted outlets will be
located in the action area, the telemety, as well as

the advanced life support cabinet. *Exact location &
quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Outlet - Oxygen - Single A single O2 outlet provided at the head end
of the squad wall. *Exact location & quantity
can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Set Outlet - Oxygen - Dual Dual O2 outlets shall be provided in the action area. *Exact
location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Outlet - Vacuum Ohio style quick disconnect vacuum
outlet provided in the action area wall.

1 Each Electrical System -
 RCTronics 12V (Standard)

12v RC Tronics switch panel electrical system shall be provided
in the cab console and in the action area of the module.

Page 8 of 12

53

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

2 Each Pre Wire - 12V Radio 12v radio pre-wires at the front console and rear
action area. *Exact location and quantity can
be changed at the pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Flooring - Gun Metal Gray
- Lonplate 3" (Standard)

Lonplate heavy duty floor covering installed above
the PVC sub floor, rolled up on each side 3".

1 Each Flooring - Composite
PVC Sub Flooring

PVC composite sub flooring shall be
installed above the aluminum sub floor.

1 Set Cabinets - Plywood - 1 Tone
- Matte Gray (Standard)

Cabinets shall be constructed of ¾” plywood with
a high-pressure plastic matte Gray laminate finish.

1 Set Windows - Life Defender
- Fixed (Standard)

Austin Hardware Gen II Life Defender cabinets,
with clear plexi and fixed sliding windows.

1 Each Seat - CPR

1 Each Countertops - Gray (Standard) Solid Surface material counter tops at the
action and telemetry areas. Gray in color.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood
- Over Rear Door

Cabinet located over the rear entry
door, providing one storage section.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood -
 Squad Bench Overhead

Cabinet located over the squad bench,
divided into two separate storage sections.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood - Glove Box Cabinet located over the side entry door,
providing storage for three glove boxes.

1 Each Cabinet Add On #1 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Add 110V in overhead squad bench cabinet closest to curbside entry door

Page 9 of 12

54

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Cabinet Add On #2 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Cabinet above pass thru

1 Each Cabinet Add On #3 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Cabinet below pass thru

1 System Insulation -
 Polyfiber (Standard)

The modular ambulance body shall be insulated
with a non-flammable Polyfiber insulation.

1 Each Defibrillator Mount for
Lifepak 12/15- Ferno

A Ferno Life Pack 12/15 monitor mount shall
be supplied and installed at delivery. Customer

location determined during the pre-build conference.

1 Each Heater - Aux 110 - 1500W A 110v auxiliary heater shall be supplied and installed.
Location shall be determined during the pre-build conference.

Mounted above CPR seat

6 Each Emergency Release Latch Curb and Rear entry doors shall come with
upper and lower emergency release latches,

in the event of failure to exit the module.

MODULAR INTERIOR DETAILS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Suction - Rico - Action
Area (Standard)

A RICO RS4X disposable aspirator will be installed in the action
area and connected to the vacuum inlet by a quick connect coupler.

1 Each Vacuum Pump Electric vacuum pump installed in the L-2 exterior compartment,
plumbed to the vacuum outlet on the rear action area wall.

3 Each Seat Belt - 6 Point Harness All seated positions shall have a 6
point safety harness seat belt system.

Page 10 of 12

55

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 Each Safety Net - Yellow
Angled (Standard)

A yellow safety net shall be provided and
installed at the head end of the squad bench.

2 Each Grab Rail - Ceiling -
 80" Yellow (Standard)

1.25" diameter x 80" yellow grab bars shall be provided
and securely fastened to the ceiling over the primary

cot and over the squad bench. *Exact location &
quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

3 Each Grab Handle - 18"
Yellow (Standard)

1.25" diameter x 18" yellow grab bars shall be
provided at each entry door. *Exact location &

quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

3 Each Grab Handle - Interior V
Style - Yellow (Standard)

V-Style yellow grab handles shall be
provided on the side and rear entry doors.

1 Each Timer - 15 Minute Delay A 15-minute mechanical timer shall be provided and
installed at the head of squad bench adjacent to the side

entry door. Timer to control the curb side dome lights.

1 Each Clock - Digital -
 Intellitec (Standard)

A digital EMS clock shall be provided at the Action Area wall.

2 Set IV Hanger - Ceiling
Mount (Standard)

IV Hangers will be recessed in the ceiling
over the head and foot end of the primary cot.

1 System Upholstery - Vinyl -
 Gunmetal Gray (Standard)

Seamless vacuum formed vinyl material, gun metal gray, provided
on the attendant seat, squad bench cushions and CPR cushions.

1 Set Seat - Attendant Child 3 Point
Safety - Gunmetal Gray w

Swivel Base - Wise (Standard)

Attendant seat with child safety seat, 3 point harness and
swivel base shall be located at the head end of the primary cot.

1 System Riser - Stainless Steel - Interior

1 System Cot Fastener - Power Load -
 Stryker (Customer Supplied)

A Power Load cot fastener shall be center
mounted on the floor of the module.

Customer supplied floor plate and power load

Page 11 of 12

56

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 System Cot Fastener Mount
- Center (Standard)

The cot fastener shall be center mounted in the patient module.

HVAC SYSTEM

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION PRODUCT
IMAGE

1 System AC - 12 Volt - Ducted
with Bottom Mount

Condenser (Standard)

Hoseline brushless 12VDC HVAC system
located on the front bulkhead and shall be ducted

down the ceiling of the patient compartment.

1 Each Exhaust Fan The patient compartment shall be ventilated with fresh outside
air via one (1) static intake vent and one (1) power exhaust vent.

2 Each Cowl Vent An aluminum cowl vent shall be provided
on the exterior to cover the intake vent.

1 Each Filter - Hepa A hepa filter shall be installed in the HVAC intake.

WE LOOK FORWARD TO BUILDING THIS AMAZING VEHICLE FOR YOUR DEPARTMENT!

Page 12 of 12

57

Item X. 5.



58

Item X. 5.



59

Item X. 5.



Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc.
Manufacturers of Custom Emergency Apparatuses

13787 White House Rd
Woodbury, GA 30293
United States
Main Line: 706-655-4300

 
Quote #: Q-00700-1
Date: 1/18/2024 4:18 PM
Expires On: 3/19/2024

 
SHIPPING
WANDA MCDUFFIE
Effingham County
,
(912) 754-2148
wmcduffie@effinghamcounty.org
 

 
BILL TO
Effingham County EMS
,

Name Direct Line E-Mail Address
Jimmy Gill (706) 977-7095 jimmy@customtruckandbodyworks.com

Payment Terms Delivery Method Delivery Terms
Due on Receipt Pickup at CTBW 120 to 150 Business Days After Receipt of Chassis
 
 
 

Dear WANDA MCDUFFIE,
 

Custom Truck and Body Works would like to thank you for the opportunity to work
with your department on this project. We have prepared this quote based on the
information that has been provided to us. We are certain that we can meet or
exceed any needs and expectations you may have. Please review the attached
documents and if there should be any questions, clarifications or any additional
information please do not hesitate to contact me. We look forward to hearing from
you soon.
 

Sincerely,
Jimmy Gill

 
 

Type I 12' Ambulance - Ford F450 4x2 Diesel

$251,012 Each

60

Item X. 5.



MODULAR BODY

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Modular Body - Type I 12' The ambulance body 149"L x 96"W x72"H shall be constructed of custom
designed aluminum extrusions and aluminum plate. The ambulance body

shall be designed and engineered specifically as an emergency vehicle and
shall be built to meet the heavy-duty requirements of emergency service.

CHASSIS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Chassis - Ford F450 -
 4x2 - Diesel - 84CA

The cab-chassis shall be suitable for subsequent mounting of
a modular (containerized) transferable equipped ambulance

body conforming to the requirements specified herein.
 

*Ford F-450 XLT, 2 Wheel Drive Chassis-Cab.
*165” Wheelbase – 84” Cab-Axle – 14,000 lbs. GVWR

*6.7L Power Stroke® V-8 Diesel Engine – 300 HP / 660 lb/ft. Torque
*10-Speed TorqShift® Automatic SelectShift® OverdriveTransmission

* Wide Track Rear Axle – 4.10 Rear Axle Ratio
*Brakes – 4-wheel Disc Anti-lock, Hydra-Boost Power Assist

*Stabilizer Bar – Front and Rear
*LT245/75Rx17E All-Season Radial Tires – Highway Tread

*Spare Tire and Wheel – Full Size
*Seats, Front Captain’s Chairs

*Ambulance/ Prep Package – 47L with
EPA Special Emergency Vehicle Emissions
*Engine Block Heater (wired to Shoreline)

*Dual Heavy-Duty 750 CCA / 78 Amp-Hour, Maintenance Free Batteries
*Alternators – Dual Alternators – 357-Amps Total

*Fuel Tank, 40 Gallon
*Mirrors – Heated Power-Adjusted

*Power Windows
*Power Door Locks

*Cruise Control / Tilt Steering Wheel

84" CA
OEM WHITE

(3) KEY FOBS
GPS

OEM BACKUP CAMERA

1 Each Back Up Camera
- OEM - Ford

An OEM Ford backup camera shall be ordered with the
chassis and installed on the rear of the module. The

camera shall function with the digital display on the dash.

1 Each Chassis Add On #1 Non Standard Additional Chassis Add On

LED LIGHT BAR MOUNTED ON BRUSH GUARD

Page 1 of 14

61

Item X. 5.



CHASSIS ADD ON

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Set Wheel Inserts -
 Phoenix - Ford F450/

F550 (Standard)

Chrome wheel simulators shall be installed on the chassis wheels.

1 Set Running Boards - Driver
& Passenger - Reg

Cab - NFPA (Standard)

Diamond plate running boards shall be provided and installed on the
cab of the module to the chassis manufacturers recommendation.

2 Set Lights - Grille - ION
Red w Clear Lens
LED (Standard)

Whelen ION series Red LED warning light with clear lens
and chrome flange installed on the front grill of the chassis.

2 Set Lights - Front Intersection
- ION Red w Clear

Lens LED (Standard)

Whelen ION series Red LED warning light with clear lens
and chrome flange installed on the fenders of the chassis.

1 Set Speaker - Cast -
 Ford F350/F450/
F550 (Standard)

Two (2) 100-watt speakers shall be installed through the front OEM bumper.

2 Set Fire Extinguisher - 5Lb
w/ Bracket (Standard)

5lb Fire Extinguisher shall be shipped loose.

1 Each Suspension - Liquid
Springs - Ford

F450/F550 - Any

CLASS (Compressible Liquid Adaptive Suspension System) Liquid Spring
Suspension System is a smart suspension system for Ambulances. Liquid-

based struts and an on-board processor to provide better handling and
control. System must provide a smoother, and softer ride. This reduced
Ambulance vibration increases comfort and lower maintenance costs.

1 Set Mud Flaps Set of heavy-duty, thick rubber material mud
flaps shall be as wide as the dual rear wheels.

1 Each Spare Tire A spare tire shall be provided with the chassis.

1 Each Alarm - Backup An audible alarm shall be installed to activate when the vehicle is placed into
reverse gear. There shall be installed on the front console and wired through
the vehicle electrical system, a momentary cutoff switch to disable the alarm.

Page 2 of 14

62

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Intermotive Module - Ford
- Diesel - F350/F450/F550

1 Each Brush Guard - Black -
Ranch Hand - F350/F450/

F550 (Fits 2023 Model
- No 2024 Available)

1 Set Engine Block Heater
- Wire - Shoreline

The chassis engine block heater shall be wired to shoreline power.

CHASSIS CONSOLE

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Console - Wood -
 Gray (Standard)

A wood scorpion coated console with (2) cup holders and map
slot shall be provided between the driver and passenger seat.

2 Each Siren - (Standard) A Whelen 295SLSA1 single tone siren shall be installed in the cab console.

1 Each Spotlight - Go Light
LED w Remote Control

12V LED spotlight shall be installed on the cab roof.

L1 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each L1 Compartment -
 Single Door (Standard)

Street Side Forward Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W20"x D22"

1 Each O2 Bracket Kit -
 Electric - H Cylinder

There shall be a Zico Electric Lift Cylinder Bracket O2 bottle
mount to allow the department to utilize both “H” cylinder bottle.

Page 3 of 14

63

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each O2 Wrench An aluminum O2 wrench provided near the
O2 bracket in the Oxygen compartment.

1 Each Oxygen Regulator
- 50 PSI

50 PSI Pre-Set diaphragm regulator with nut and nipple
connection for large cylinders and preset to 50 PSI.

2 Each Portable O2 Bracket Kit -
 D Cylinder - Zico QR-D-2

L2 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each L2 Compartment Street Side Intermediate Compartment Dimensions: H40"x W30"x D20"

1 Each Inverter - Vanner
1100 (Standard)

A Vanner 1050 watt Inverter with 50 amp battery charger shall be
provided and installed in the streetside exterior L2 compartment.

1 Each Inverter - Pre Wire A pre-wire for installation of the inverter
shall be provided in the L2 compartment.

L3 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each L3 Compartment
(Standard)

Street Side Rear Compartment Dimensions: H40"x W30"x D20"

Double doors on compartment

1 Each Adjustable Shelf -
 L3 Compartment

A horizontal aluminum adjustable shelf/shelves shall be
provided in the L3 compartment mounted on shelf track.

Page 4 of 14

64

Item X. 5.



R3 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each R3 Compartment Curb Side Rear Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W15"x D20"

(2) straps and buckles across the back board storage area

2 Each Adjustable Shelf -
 R3 Compartment

A horizontal aluminum adjustable shelf/shelves shall be
provided in the R3 compartment mounted on shelf track.

1 Each Backboard Divider -
 R3 Compartment

A vertical divider shall be mounted center of the back board compartment.

R2 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each R2 Compartment Curb Side Intermediate Compartment Dimensions: H20"x W24"x D20"

R1 COMPARTMENT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each R1 Compartment Curb Side Forward Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W18"x D20"

EMERGENCY LIGHT PACKAGE

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Set Lights - M Series -
 Red & White LED

Warning w Clear Lens
(7 Front Wall R/W/R/
W/R/W/R) (Standard)

Whelen M9 LED warning lights shall be installed on the module
in the specified configuration. (7) front wall lights, (4) side

body lights, (3) rear upper, and (2) lower window level lights.

Page 5 of 14

65

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

2 Each Lights - Rear Intersection
- M7 Red LED w Clear
Lens - Warning Light

Whelen M7 LED warning lights shall be
installed above both rear wheels on the module

NON-EMERGENCY LIGHTS - EXTERIOR

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Lights - Compartment
- Single - LED Strip
Lights (Standard)

Each exterior compartment shall have one (1) strip LED
light installed full height on each side of the door opening.

6 Set Lights - Scene -
 M9 LED (Standard)

Whelen M Series LED Scene Lights shall be installed (2)
two on rear, (2) per side of the ambulance modular body.

2 Set Lights - Stop/Turn/
Tail - M6 Series

LED w Colored Lens

Whelen M Series LED Brake, Back Up and Turn signals
with individual bezels installed on the rear of the module.

1 Set Lights - ICC Marker -
 Red & Amber LED

7 LED Red and & 7 LED Yellow ICC lights installed on
the upper module perimeter to meet DOT requirements.

1 Each Light - Stepwell - LED LED Stepwell light installed at the entry steps of the module.

1 Each Lights - Tag Bracket - LED LED lighting installed at the the tag bracket to meet DOT requirements.

2 Set Lights - Docking
- 6" Oval White

6" LED lights installed at the rear bumper to provide additional back up lighting.

Page 6 of 14

66

Item X. 5.



MODULAR EXTERIOR

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Shoreline - 30A/120V -
 Auto Eject - Blue Cover

A 30 amp automatic power line disconnect system
shall be furnished for the vehicle shoreline.

2 Set Fenderette -
 Aluminum (Standard)

Polished aluminum fender flair shall be
installed around the rear wheel well openings.

1 Each Window - Side - Sliding
- Dark Tint (Standard)

Tinted high black aluminum framed sliding
window is to be centered on the side entry door.

2 Each Window - Rear - Fixed
- Dark Tint (Standard)

Tinted high black aluminum framed fixed window
is to be centered on each rear entry door.

1 System Door Locks - Power
- 6 Compartments
& 2 Entry Doors w

Hidden Stealth Switch

Install Power Door locks on all Compartments and Patient
Entry Side and Rear Doors. Lock/unlock can be initiated by

key fob, remote switch or by Cab & Driver's Side electric locks.

MODULAR EXTERIOR - COMPARTMENT
DETAIL

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Set Compartments - Scorpion
- Gray (Standard)

Scorpion coated finish on all exterior compartments.

1 Set Drip Rails - Aluminum

PAINT

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Paint Type - Modular
Body - 1 Color

The module shall be a single tone paint to match
the OEM chassis or customer specified paint code.

Page 7 of 14

67

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Paint Type - Chassis
OEM (Standard)

Chassis shall be painted OEM one color to match fleet.

VINYL GRAPHICS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Set Door Panels -
 Chevron (Standard)

Aluminum plate door panels on all exterior doors with 12" of reflective chevron.

Orange and Blue

1 Each Vinyl Graphics -
 Star of Life (Large)

Large printed Star of Life, installed on the front or rear
of module. Printed on 3M IJ680CR reflective material.

**Color and location to be determined at Precon**

CUSTOM Swoosh and SOL to match existing units

1 Set Vinyl Graphics - Star of
Life Reflective Package

KKK-Spec reflective SOL package provided with the graphics package.
*Exact color and location to be determined at the pre-construction meeting*

1 Set Vinyl Graphics -
 Lettering & Decals

Lettering and department decals designed and printed on 3M 680CR
reflective material and laminated with UV protective laminate.

1 Each Rear Chevron - Reflective Printed rear chevrons that meets the existing fleet/
customer specifications. Printed on 3M IJ680CR

reflective material. **Color to be determined at Precon**

MODULAR INTERIOR

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Panel - Power - Location
- Interior (Standard)

A printed circuit board shall be installed in the
interior electrical cabinet behind attendant seat.

1 Each Flooring - Gun Metal Gray
- Lonplate 3" (Standard)

Lonplate heavy duty floor covering installed above
the PVC sub floor, rolled up on each side 3".

Page 8 of 14

68

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Flooring - Composite
PVC Sub Flooring

PVC composite sub flooring shall be installed above the aluminum sub floor.

1 System Insulation -
 Polyfiber (Standard)

The modular ambulance body shall be insulated
with a non-flammable Polyfiber insulation.

1 Each Mount - Defibrillator for
Lifepak 12/15- Ferno

A Ferno Life Pack 12/15 monitor mount shall be supplied and installed at
delivery. Customer location determined during the pre-build conference.

1 Each Heater - Aux 110 - 1500W A 110v auxiliary heater shall be supplied and installed.
Location shall be determined during the pre-build conference.

Mounted above CPR seat

6 Each Emergency Release Latch Curb and Rear entry doors shall come with upper and lower
emergency release latches, in the event of failure to exit the module.

MODULAR INTERIOR - CABINET DETAIL

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Set Cabinets - Plywood
- 1 Tone - Matte
Gray (Standard)

Cabinets shall be constructed of ¾” plywood with
a high-pressure plastic matte Gray laminate finish.

1 Set Windows - Life Defender
- Fixed (Standard)

Austin Hardware Gen II Life Defender cabinets,
with clear plexi and fixed sliding windows.

1 Each Seat - CPR

1 Each Countertops - Gray - Soft
Edge Trim (Standard)

Solid Surface material counter tops at the
action and telemetry areas. Gray in color.

Page 9 of 14

69

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood
- Over Rear Door

Cabinet located over the rear entry door, providing one storage section.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood -
 Squad Bench Overhead

Cabinet located over the squad bench,
divided into two separate storage sections.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood
- Glove Box

Cabinet located over the side entry door,
providing storage for three glove boxes.

1 Each Cabinet Add On #1 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Add 110V in overhead squad bench cabinet closest to curbside entry door

1 Each Cabinet Add On #2 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Cabinet above pass thru

1 Each Cabinet Add On #3 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Cabinet below pass thru

MODULAR INTERIOR - ELECTRICAL

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

2 Set Antenna - Coax Two [2] 10-gauge power and two [2] ground wires, two
[2] RG58U coax cables, and two [2} PL259 connectors.

3 Each Outlet - 12V 12 Volt DC 20 Amp cigar style outlets will be located in the
action area and in the advanced life support cabinet. *Exact

location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

Page 10 of 14

70

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

6 Each Outlet - 110V - Lighted 110 Volt AC GFI duplex lighted outlets will be located in the action
area, the telemety, as well as the advanced life support cabinet. *Exact

location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Outlet - Oxygen - Single A single O2 outlet provided at the head end of the squad wall. *Exact
location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Set Outlet - Oxygen - Dual Dual O2 outlets shall be provided in the action area. *Exact
location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Outlet - Vacuum Ohio style quick disconnect vacuum outlet provided in the action area wall.

1 Each Electrical System -
RCTronics 12V (Standard)

12v RC Tronics switch panel electrical system shall be provided
in the cab console and in the action area of the module.

2 Each Pre Wire - 12V Radio 12v radio pre-wires at the front console and rear action area. *Exact
location and quantity can be changed at the pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Vacuum Pump Electric vacuum pump installed in the L-2 exterior compartment,
plumbed to the vacuum outlet on the rear action area wall.

1 Each Timer - 15 Minute
Delay - Twist Knob

A 15-minute mechanical timer shall be provided and
installed at the head of squad bench adjacent to the side

entry door. Timer to control the curb side dome lights.

1 Each Clock - Digital -
 Intellitec (Standard)

A digital EMS clock shall be provided at the Action Area wall.

Page 11 of 14

71

Item X. 5.



MODULAR INTERIOR - SAFETY &
RESTRAINTS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

3 Each Seat Belt - 6
Point Harness

All seated positions shall have a 6 point safety harness seat belt system.

1 Each Safety Net - Yellow
Angled (Standard)

A yellow safety net shall be provided and
installed at the head end of the squad bench.

2 Each Grab Rail - Ceiling -
 80" Yellow (Standard)

1.25" diameter x 80" yellow grab bars shall be provided and securely
fastened to the ceiling over the primary cot and over the squad bench.
*Exact location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

3 Each Grab Handle - 18"
Yellow (Standard)

1.25" diameter x 18" yellow grab bars shall be provided at each entry door.
*Exact location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

3 Each Grab Handle - Interior V
Style - Yellow (Standard)

V-Style yellow grab handles shall be provided on the side and rear entry doors.

MODULAR INTERIOR DETAILS

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Suction - Rico - Action
Area (Standard)

A RICO RS4X disposable aspirator will be installed in the action
area and connected to the vacuum inlet by a quick connect coupler.

2 Set IV Hanger - Ceiling
Mount (Standard)

IV Hangers will be recessed in the ceiling
over the head and foot end of the primary cot.

1 System Upholstery - Vinyl -
Gunmetal Gray (Standard)

Seamless vacuum formed vinyl material, gun metal gray, provided
on the attendant seat, squad bench cushions and CPR cushions.

1 Set Seat - Attendant Child 3
Point Safety - Gunmetal

Gray w Swivel Base
- Wise (Standard)

Attendant seat with child safety seat, 3 point harness and
swivel base shall be located at the head end of the primary cot.

Page 12 of 14

72

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 System Riser - Stainless
Steel - Interior

1 System Cot Fastener -
 Power Load - Stryker
(Customer Supplied)

A Power Load cot fastener shall be center mounted on the floor of the module.

Customer supplied floor plate and power load

1 System Cot Fastener Mount
- Center (Standard)

The cot fastener shall be center mounted in the patient module.

NON-EMERGENCY LIGHTS - INTERIOR

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

2 Set Lights - Action Area/
Telemetry - LED

3" round led lights shall be located in the action area and telemetry area.

10 Set Lights - Dome - Whelen
LED (Standard)

Whelen 8" LED Dome patient compartment lights with dual
level lighting will be located in the ceiling. *Exact location
& quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

HVAC SYSTEM

QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 System AC - 12 Volt - Ducted
with Bottom Mount

Condenser (Standard)

Hoseline brushless 12VDC HVAC system located on the front bulkhead
and shall be ducted down the ceiling of the patient compartment.

1 Each Exhaust Fan The patient compartment shall be ventilated with fresh outside
air via one (1) static intake vent and one (1) power exhaust vent.

2 Each Cowl Vent An aluminum cowl vent shall be provided
on the exterior to cover the intake vent.

Page 13 of 14

73

Item X. 5.



QTY UOM PRODUCT NAME DESCRIPTION IMAGE

1 Each Filter - Hepa A hepa filter shall be installed in the HVAC intake.

WE LOOK FORWARD TO BUILDING THIS AMAZING VEHICLE FOR YOUR DEPARTMENT!

Page 14 of 14

74

Item X. 5.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Amendment #6 to the Contract for Roadside Mowing Services with the 

McGraley Company, LLC 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: Approval of Amendment #6 to the Contract for Roadside Mowing Services 

with the McGraley Company, LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Amendment #6 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County has a contract in place for roadside mowing services with the McGraley 

Company, LLC.  The term of the contract is January 1st, 2015 to December 31st, 2015 

with the option to renew for two additional one year terms until December 31st 2017.  

Amendments 1 through 5 have subsequently been approved by the BOC extending the 

agreement through December 31, 2025. 

 McGraley has requested Amendment #6 increasing the billed mileage for a few County 

roads. This will increase the per cycle price to $72,843.86 ($291,375.44 total). The term 

will remain the same. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Amendment 6 to the Contract for Roadside Mowing Services with the 

McGraley Company, LLC. for an annual total of $291,375.44 

2. Take no action.   

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Attorney, Public Works, Finance 

Funding Source: 

Attachments: 

1. Amendment 6 to the Contract for Roadside Mowing Services 

2. Fully Executed Contract and Amendments 1 through 5 

 

 

75

Item X. 6.



 
Amendment No. _6_to the 

Contract for Roadside Mowing Services 
Executed September 16th, 2014 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
The McGraley Company, LLC 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __6__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2024 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and The 

McGraley Company, LLC with offices at 111 Dixie Drive, Springfield, GA 31329 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and The McGraley Company, LLC entered into a Contract dated September 16th, 2014 for 

Roadside Mowing Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The term shall remain as approved on Amendment 5, expiring December 31, 2025.  
 

2. Fee:  The fee will increase due to the increase in mileage in the agreement. The extensions are as follows: 
Golden Road - .68 miles 
Old Louisville Road – increase to 7 miles 
Central Ave. – increase to 3.5 miles 

These changes bring the total annual agreement to $291,375.44 ($72,843.86 per mowing cycle).  
 

3. Contract Services: Services rendered through this agreement will be monitored by the Public Works 
Department of Effingham County, currently under the supervision of EOM. 

 

4. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract and Amendment No’s.1 
through 5 to the Contract shall remain unaffected by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __6___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      The McGraley Company, LLC                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

76

Item X. 6.



77

Item X. 6.



78

Item X. 6.



79

Item X. 6.



80

Item X. 6.



Nicole Rahn

owner

09/18/2017

81

Item X. 6.

FCHARLETON
Typewritten Text

FCHARLETON
Typewritten Text

FCHARLETON
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Sticky Note
Dec 31 2017 to Dec 31 2019



82

Item X. 6.



Nicole Rahn

owner

5/10/2021

83

Item X. 6.



Nicole Rahn

owner

3/22/22

84

Item X. 6.



85

Item X. 6.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Proposal from Kimley-Horn for Design of Roadway and 

Intersection Improvements of Old Augusta Road 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works/Roads 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: Proposal from Kimley-Horn for Design of Roadway and Intersection 

Improvements of Old Augusta Road 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Proposal from 

Kimley-Horn for Design of Roadway and Intersection Improvements of Old Augusta 

Road 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff requested a proposal from Kimley-Horn to provide design services for 

improvements to the Old Augusta Road corridor. The design services will cover 

the 2.7 mile long corridor from SR 21 to Chimney Road, as recommended in the 

Old Augusta Road Corridor Study completed by Pond & Company. The tasks 

included in the proposal are as follows: 

o Project Management – NTE $25,300.00 

o Preliminary Plans – NTE $427,550.00 

o Phasing Plan/Support – NTE $22,850.00 

o Topographic Survey – LS $236,250.00 

o MS4 Analysis/Design – LS $46,550.00 

 The total for this project is a NTE $758,500.00. This proposal has been reviewed 

by staff and Thomas & Hutton personnel and all recommend approval. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Proposal from Kimley-Horn for Design of Roadway and Intersection 

Improvements of Old Augusta Road in the amount of $758,500.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: T&H, County Manager, P/CP, County Engineer 

Funding Source: TSPLOST, Gateway Industrial Special Tax District 

Attachments: Kimley-Horn Proposal 

 

 

 

86

Item X. 7.



Page 1

kimley-horn.com 25 Bull Street, Suite 400, Savannah, Georgia 31401 912 231 4384

January 10, 2024

Mr. Tim Callanan, County Manager
Effingham County, Georgia
804 South Laurel Street
Springfield, Georgia 31329

Re: Old Augusta Road, Rincon, Georgia
Letter Proposal for Design of Roadway and Intersection Improvements

Dear Tim:

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (“Kimley-Horn” or “Consultant”) is pleased to offer this letter proposal
to Effingham County, Georgia (“County” or “Client”) for providing design services for improvements to
the Old Augusta Road corridor in Rincon, Georgia. This letter proposal details our project
understanding, proposed scope of services, schedule, and compensation for the design of the roadway
improvements.

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING
As discussed in meetings with the County on December 1, 2023 and on December 11, 2023,
improvements to the 2.7-mile-long corridor from SR 21/Augusta Road to Chimney Road were
recommended as part of the Old Augusta Road Corridor Study (Pond & Company, December 2022,
“Pond Study”). This proposal includes the design of and development of preliminary plans for select
recommendations from the Pond Study as further described in the following sections (“Project”). Final
construction plans will be prepared and scoped separately pending available funding and coordination
with the County following completion of the Project.

The Project includes the following improvements and intersection control on Old Augusta Road:

1. A divided four-lane facility with a 24-foot-wide raised median from SR 21/Augusta Road to
Logistics Parkway (i.e., Becknell Driveway)

2. A restricted crossing U-turn (RCUT) intersection at Newton Court (i.e., LEO at the Sanctuary
driveway) to accommodate southbound U-turns

3. A southbound right-turn lane and right-in/right-out (RI/RO) access at the following
intersections:

a. Park of Commerce Driveway
b. Trailer Yard Driveway

4. An RCUT intersection approximately 750 feet south of the proposed North Gate roundabout
to accommodate northbound U-turns

5. A four-leg turbo roundabout at General Way, including:
a. Two travel lanes on northbound and southbound approaches
b. One egress lane and one ingress lane along the eastbound approach

6. A northbound right-turn lane and RI/RO access at the following intersections:
a. Exeter Driveway
b. Cowan – South Driveway

7. A three-leg turbo roundabout at Estes Express Driveway, including:
a. Two travel lanes on northbound and southbound approaches
b. Two egress lanes and one ingress lane along Estes Express Driveway

8. A three-leg turbo roundabout at Logistics Parkway, including:
a. Two travel lanes on northbound approach
b. One travel lane on southbound approach
c. Two egress lanes and one ingress lane along Logistics Parkway

87

Item X. 7.



Page 2

kimley-horn.com 25 Bull Street, Suite 400, Savannah, Georgia 31401 912 231 4384

9. A minor street stop control at Abercorn Street
10. A northbound right-turn lane and minor-street stop control at the following intersections:

a. Cowan – Center Driveway
b. Cowan – North Driveway

11. A four-leg single-lane roundabout at Chimney Road/Holly Lane intersection with one ingress
lane and one egress lane on all approaches

SCOPE OF SERVICES
Kimley-Horn will provide the following roadway design services (“the Services”) to design the roadway
widening and intersection improvements, prepare preliminary construction plans, and develop a
preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC) for the Project. All submittals will be made
electronically in Portable Document Format (PDF) format unless stated otherwise below.

Task 1: Project Management
Kimley-Horn will prepare for and attend one (1) initial coordination meeting with the County to allow for
discussion of the design standards, Project approach, schedule, and deliverables. Kimley-Horn will
conduct one (1) additional coordination meeting with the County as requested. Kimley-Horn will
maintain records of all meetings and will prepare and submit monthly invoices for the anticipated nine-
month project duration.

Kimley-Horn will procure a topographical survey and property line database through subconsultant
services. As shown in the attached boundary, the database will begin approximately 250 feet south of
SR 21/Augusta Road along Trade Center Parkway and will extend to approximately 750 feet north of
Chimney Road/Holly Lane along Old Augusta Road. The database will extend approximately 750 feet
west of Old Augusta Road along Chimney Road and approximately 550 feet east of Old Augusta Road
along Holly Lane. The resulting database will include approximately 92 acres of topographic survey in
accordance with Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) survey guidelines, requirements, and
standards. Kimley-Horn will complete a field review of the survey database and perform a quality control
review of the deliverables for general compliance with GDOT survey guidelines.

Task 2: Preliminary Plans
Kimley-Horn will design the intersection and roadway improvements for the Project. Kimley-Horn will
prepare roadway design criteria for the County’s acceptance prior to beginning design. The design of
the roundabouts will be performed in general accordance with the GDOT Roundabout Design Guide.
Kimley-Horn will also coordinate with utility owners who will confirm existing utility locations collected
with the topographical survey.

Kimley-Horn will develop a Preliminary Plans set for review by the County and will prepare for and
attend a Preliminary Plan Review meeting. The Preliminary Plans submittal will include the following in
accordance with the GDOT Plans Preparation Guide:

1. Project Cover
2. Project Index
3. Project Notes and General Notes
4. Typical Sections
5. Construction Layout Drawings
6. Construction Plans
7. Mainline Roadway Profiles
8. Sideroad Roadway Profiles
9. Driveway Profiles (25 assumed)

10. Special Grading Drawings (four roundabouts)
11. Drainage Area Map
12. Drainage Profiles
13. Cross Sections
14. Utility Plans (design by others)
15. Lighting Plans (four roundabouts)
16. Signing & Marking Plans
17. Special Construction Details (three BMPs)
18. Erosion Control BMP Location Details

88

Item X. 7.



Page 3

kimley-horn.com 25 Bull Street, Suite 400, Savannah, Georgia 31401 912 231 4384

As part of the Preliminary Plans submittal, Kimley-Horn will coordinate with a subconsultant to prepare
a Stormwater Management Design Plan in general accordance with the County’s Stormwater
Management Local Design Manual. The design of up to three (3) stormwater best management
practices (BMPs) is included in this task, and all stormwater systems will be designed to accommodate
the 25-year design storm.

Kimley-Horn will develop a preliminary OPCC for review during the Preliminary Plan Review meeting.
Kimley-Horn will address one (1) round of consolidated County comments following the Preliminary
Plan Review meeting and will update the preliminary plans and OPCC based on comments received.

Task 3: Phasing Support
Kimley-Horn will prepare a draft Project phasing plan and up to three (3) separate phasing OPCCs to
assist with the development of an improvement implementation plan along the Old Augusta Road
corridor. The OPCCs will also include detailed Right of Way and Utility cost estimates. Kimley-Horn will
meet with the County one (1) time to review and finalize the Project phasing plan.

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY CLIENT
Kimley-Horn shall be entitled to rely on the completeness and accuracy of all information provided by
the County, the County’s consultants, or representatives. The County shall provide all information
requested by the Consultant during the project, including, but not limited to:

1. County standards for roads and streets
2. Water and sewer as-built plans
3. Development site plans (CADD and PDF)
4. Development Agreement commitments related to the transportation network
5. Development topographic and wetland surveys (PDF and CADD)
6. Old Augusta Road Corridor Study (Pond & Company, December 2022)

SCHEDULE
Kimley-Horn will provide these services as expeditiously as practicable on a mutually agreed milestone
schedule to be finalized following execution of this Agreement. A design duration of six (6) months is
anticipated following the receipt of the complete survey database.

FEE AND EXPENSES
For Tasks 1 through 3, Kimley-Horn labor fee will be billed on an hourly basis in accordance with the
rates shown below. The rates for individual team members may vary, but the following current rates
apply to the core team members for this phase of the project:

l Senior Professional II: $310/hour
l Senior Professional I: $265/hour
l Professional: $210/hour
l Senior Technical Support: $190/hour
l Analyst/Designer: $140/hour
l Technical Support/Support Staff: $125/hour

Based on the rates noted above and our understanding of the Project, budgeted amounts for Kimley-
Horn’s services in Tasks 1 through 3 are as follows:

Task Description Fee Fee Type
1 Project Management 25,300 Hourly NTE
2 Preliminary Plans 427,550 Hourly NTE
3 Phasing Support 22,850 Hourly NTE

Subtotal (Kimley-Horn only) $475,700 Hourly NTE

89

Item X. 7.



Page 4

kimley-horn.com 25 Bull Street, Suite 400, Savannah, Georgia 31401 912 231 4384

Kimley-Horn will not exceed the NTE budget without authorization from the County. Fee estimates are
for general budgeting purposes only, and the actual fees may be more or less than the estimates. A
percentage of labor fee will be added to each invoice to cover certain expenses such as
telecommunications, in-house reproduction, postage, supplies, project related computer time, and local
mileage. Payment will be due within 25 days of your receipt of the invoice and should include the invoice
number and Kimley-Horn’s project number. All permitting, application and similar project fees will be
paid directly by the County.

Additionally, Kimley-Horn will coordinate with its subconsultants to perform subconsultant services
associated with Task 2 for the Total Lump Sum Fee summarized below:

Description Fee Fee Type
Topographic Survey 236,250 Lump Sum
MS4 Analysis and Design 46,550 Lump Sum

Subtotal (Subconsultants) $282,800 Lump Sum

Kimley-Horn will not exceed the Total Lump Sum Fee without authorization from the County. Lump sum
fees will be invoiced monthly based upon the overall percentage of services performed. Payment will
be due within 25 days of your receipt of the invoice and should include the invoice number and Kimley-
Horn’s project number. All permitting, application and similar project fees will be paid directly by the
County.

ADDITIONAL SERVICES
Any services not specifically provided for in the Services identified above, as well as any changes in
the scope requested by the County, will be considered Additional Services and will be negotiated and
performed under a separate agreement. The following is a list of some specific services that are not
included, but can be provided upon request:

1. Civil/Site Development and design services
2. Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) Surveys
3. Environmental studies and permitting, including Ecology, History, Air/Noise, and Archaeology
4. Environmental surveys, including wetland delineations
5. FEMA Floodplain Studies and Analyses
6. Geotechnical Investigations, including Environmental Site Assessments and Soil Surveys
7. Traffic study/model updates, including Intersection Control Evaluations (ICE)
8. External Roundabout Performance Checks and Peer Reviews
9. Georgia Soil and Water Conservation Commission (GSWCC) Permitting, including:

a. Erosion Control Cover
b. Erosion, Sedimentation, and Pollution Control General Notes
c. Erosion Control Legend and Uniform Codes
d. Erosion Control Drainage Area Map
e. Erosion Control Watershed Map and Site Monitoring
f. Erosion Control Construction Details

10. Intersection Sight Distance (ISD) Reports
11. Staging Plans
12. Structural Plans
13. Retaining Wall Envelopes
14. Special Design (non-GDOT Standard) Culverts
15. Landscaping Plans
16. Right of Way Plans

90

Item X. 7.



Page 5

kimley-horn.com 25 Bull Street, Suite 400, Savannah, Georgia 31401 912 231 4384

17. Utility design
18. Final Construction Plans
19. Bid Phase Services
20. Construction Phase Services
21. Public Involvement, including layouts on aerial mosaics

CLOSURE
In addition to the matters set forth herein, our Agreement shall include and be subject to, and only to,
the provisions of the “Indefinite Delivery Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services”
agreement between the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia and Kimley-Horn and
Associates, Inc.”, dated June 1, 2021 and amended March 7, 2023, the terms which are incorporated
by reference. As used in the agreement, "CONSULTANT" or “VENDOR” shall refer to Kimley-Horn
and Associates, Inc., and "BOARD" shall refer to the Board of Commissioners of Effingham
County, Georgia.

If you would like for us to proceed with the services, please have an authorized person sign this
Agreement and return to us. Fees and times stated in this Agreement are valid for sixty (60) days after
the date of this letter.

We appreciate the opportunity to provide these services to you. Please contact me if you have any
questions at 912-328-4445 or rhodes.hunt@kimley-horn.com.

Very truly yours,
KIMLEY-HORN

Rhodes Hunt, PE Chris Marsengill, PE, PTOE
Project Manager Senior Project Manager

Effingham County, Georgia

SIGNED:

PRINTED NAME:

TITLE:

DATE:

Attachment: Topographic Survey Boundary

91

Item X. 7.

mailto:rhodes.hunt@kimley-horn.com


TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY BOUNDARY

92

Item X. 7.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order for Peek Pavement for a decrease in the LMIG 

SAP Project 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: Change Order for Peek Pavement for a decrease in the LMIG SAP 

Project 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Change Order for 

Peek Pavement for a decrease in the LMIG SAP Project 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff published an invitation to bid for the 2023 LMIG SAP Roadway Restriping & 

Signage which included sections of Long Landing Road, Rahn Station Road, 

Courthouse Road, Shawnee Egypt Road, Midland Road, and an Alternate.  

 Only one submittal was received and that was Peek Pavement Marking, LLC. 

 This change order has been requested to remove the flashing beacon signs due 

to vendor pricing increases associated with the alternative options and quantity 

selected. This will decrease the contract amount by -$58,000. These signs will be 

procured through another vendor for $36,000.00 and installed by EOM 

personnel.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Change Order for Peek Pavement for a decrease in the LMIG 

SAP Project by -$58,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Public Works, County Manager, P/CP 

Funding Source: LMIG 

Attachments: Change Order Form, Peek Pavement Agreement 

 

 

 

 

93

Item X. 8.



Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: 23-REQ-0372023 LMIG SAP Roadway Restriping & Signage 

Contract Date: December 5th, 2023 

Change Order Effective Date: January 11, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Peek Pavement Marking, LLC 

    4600 Peek Industrial Drive 

    Columbus, GA 31909 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNITS Unit Price Total 

 FLASHING BEACON (YELLOW) W/ 

SOLAR PANEL & POLE 

6 6,750.00 40,500.00 

 48" LED ENHANCED STOP SIGN, 

FLASHING BEACON (RED) W/ SOLAR 

PANEL & POLE 

2 8,750.00 17,500.00 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 TOTAL   58,000.00 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 225,163.84 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 0.00 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 225,163.84 

The Contract Sum will be decreased by this Change Order............................-$ 58,000.00  

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 167,163.84 

The Contract Time will be increased by _0_ days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore ________________________________________ 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Peek Pavement Marking, LLC 

804 S. Laurel Street     4600 Peek Industrial Drive 

Springfield, GA 31329     Columbus, GA 31909 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

94

Item X. 8.



95

Item X. 8.



96

Item X. 8.



97

Item X. 8.



98

Item X. 8.



99

Item X. 8.



100

Item X. 8.



101

Item X. 8.



102

Item X. 8.



103

Item X. 8.



104

Item X. 8.



105

Item X. 8.



106

Item X. 8.



107

Item X. 8.



108

Item X. 8.



109

Item X. 8.



110

Item X. 8.



111

Item X. 8.



112

Item X. 8.



113

Item X. 8.



114

Item X. 8.



115

Item X. 8.



116

Item X. 8.



117

Item X. 8.



118

Item X. 8.



119

Item X. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Agreement for the PREA Audit for the Effingham County Prison 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Prison 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: PREA Audit for the Effingham County Prison 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Agreement for the 

PREA Audit for the Effingham County Prison 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 PREA – Prison Rape Elimination Act  

 Prison Staff requested proposals to conduct the PREA Audit for the Prison. Two 

quotes were submitted, and one was a no-bid.  

o Robert Lanier (Diversified Correctional Services, LLC) $3,725.00 

o MP Wheeler $5,200.00 

 Staff requests approval of the agreement with Robert Lanier. The contract has 

been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Agreement for the PREA Audit for the Effingham County Prison with 

Robert Lanier (Diversified Correctional Services, LLC) for $3,725.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Prison, County Attorney, P/CP 

Funding Source: Prison Operating Budget 

Attachments: Contract and Quotes 

 

 

 

 

120

Item X. 9.



121

Item X. 9.



122

Item X. 9.



123

Item X. 9.



124

Item X. 9.



125

Item X. 9.



126

Item X. 9.



127

Item X. 9.



128

Item X. 9.



129

Item X. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Utility Easement Agreement with the Effingham County IDA 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Water/Sewer 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: Approval of Utility Easement Agreement 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Utility Easement 

Agreement between Effingham County BOC and the Effingham County IDA 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 This utility easement is necessary due to the Hodgeville Sanitary Sewer Force 

Main project that will be construction along Hodgeville Road and affect the IDA 

property. Currently there is a 20’ r/w and this agreement allows for an additional 

15’ utility easement. 

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney 

and IDA/Omnitrax personnel. Staff recommends approval. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Utility Easement Agreement with the Effingham County IDA 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Attorney, County Manager, EMC Engineering (engineer 

for project), T&H, P/CP 

Funding Source: NA for the agreement 

Attachments: Utility Easement Agreement 

 

 

 

 

130

Item X. 10.



131

Item X. 10.



132

Item X. 10.



133

Item X. 10.



134

Item X. 10.



135

Item X. 10.



136

Item X. 10.



137

Item X. 10.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   GA Medicaid Fee-for-Service Ground Ambulance Upper Payment 

Limit Supplemental Payment Program  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 2/6/24 

Item Description: Consideration to accept participation in the Georgia Department of 
Community Health (DCH) to participate in the GA Medicaid Fee-for-
Service (FFS) Ground Ambulance Upper Payment Limit (UPL) 
Supplemental Payment Program. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is recommending participation in the Georgia Department of Community Health 
(DCH) to participate in the GA Medicaid Fee-for-Service (FFS) Ground Ambulance 
Upper Payment Limit (UPL) Supplemental Payment Program. 
 

Executive Summary: 

On behalf of the Georgia Department of Community Health (DCH), Myers and Stauffer 
LC, sent a letter containing information regarding the GA Medicaid FFS Ground 
Ambulance UPL Supplemental Payment Program. DCH is implementing a Medicaid 
supplemental payment for in-state, government-owned (hospital affiliated or free-
standing) ground ambulance providers. The purpose of the supplemental payment is to 
provide additional Medicaid reimbursement to ensure access to ambulance services for 
Medicaid enrollees. At this time, the supplemental payment will apply to the Medicaid 
FFS program only. The supplemental payment is in addition to the claim payment a 
provider receives when submitting FFS claims for ambulance services.  
 
The supplemental payment will not exceed an established upper payment limit. DCH 
has determined the UPL will be based on commercial rate information through the 
calculation of an average commercial rate (ACR) for each applicable ambulance 
service. The supplemental payment will apply to the following ambulance services:  
 

• A0425 - Mileage  
• A0426 - Advanced Life Support (ALS, Non-Emergency)  
• A0427 - Advanced Life Support (ALS, Level 1, Emergency)  
• A0428 - Basic Life Support (BLS, Non-Emergency)  
• A0429 - Basic Life Support (BLS, Emergency)  
• A0433 - Advanced Life Support, Level 2 (ALS Level 2, Emergency)  
• A0434 - Specialty Care Transport 

 
The program was approved by the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services 
(CMS). The program will be effective for Medicaid FFS ambulance services provided on 

138

Item X. 11.



and after January 1, 2020. The supplemental payment will be issued twice a year in 
January and July.  
 
Participation in the ambulance UPL program is voluntary. To participate, eligible in-
state, government-owned (hospital affiliated or free-standing) ground ambulance 
providers must submit the required information. All documentation must be submitted 
through the Myers and Stauffer secure FTP site, on behalf of DCH. 

 

Background: 
1. Participation in the ambulance UPL program is voluntary. 
2. There is no cost share requirement but the non-federal had to be transferred to the 

state of Georgia through the use of an IGT which is the transfer of public funds from 
a unit of government to the state Medicaid agency. 

3. The IGT payment to DCH would be $8,773.20. 
4. The total payment that Effingham would receive back from DCH is $25,720.31, 

effectively meaning the County would receive the net of $17,344.92 in funding. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to accept participation in the GA Medicaid FFS Ground Ambulance UPL 
Supplemental Payment Program. 

2. Do not approve to accept participation in the GA Medicaid FFS Ground Ambulance 
UPL Supplemental Payment Program. 

3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to accept participation in the GA 
Medicaid FFS Ground Ambulance UPL Supplemental Payment Program. 
  

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Effingham County Emergency Medical Services  

 

Funding Source: 

There is no cost share requirement but the non-federal share had to be transferred to 

the state of Georgia through the use of an IGT. 

 

Attachments: 

GA Medicaid FFS Ground Ambulance UPL Supplemental Payment Program payment 
information 

139

Item X. 11.



 
 

 
B 
 

 
 
 

Equal Opportunity Employer 
 

Russel Carlson, Commissioner Brian P. Kemp, Governor 

2 Martin Luther King Jr. Drive SE, East Tower   |   Atlanta, GA 30334   |   404-656-4507   |   www.dch.georgia.gov  

Healthcare Facility Regulation   |   Medical Assistance Plans   |   State Health Benefit Plan  |  Health Planning 

 
 

Date:   January 18, 2024 
 
To:   Chief Executive Officer/Chief Financial Officer 
 
From:   Kim S. Morris, Director of Reimbursement 

Division of Financial Management 
 

Subject:  State Fiscal Year 2024 FINAL Upper Payment Limit (UPL) Ground Ambulance Payments (Claim Period 
Covered: January 1, 2022 – December 30, 2022) 

 000187404A EFFINGHAM COUNTY EMS 
 
 
BY ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 

The Department of Community Health “the Department” has received approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services 
(CMS) for the SFY 2024 Ground Ambulance Payments UPL calculation.  On March 23, 2023, the Department paid an interim 
supplemental payment to eligible ambulance providers.   The Department will pay the final payment (net of first interim payment) by 
February 29, 2024.  Information regarding the schedule of events, notice of intent, UPL payment calculation and intergovernmental 
transfer amounts are attached.  
 

For EFFINGHAM COUNTY EMS, the UPL payment of $81,804.20 was calculated using the tables below.  
 

HCPCS 
Code 
Description 

Final 
Medicaid 

Units 

Final 
Average 

Commercial 
Rate (ACR) 

Final Upper 
Payment Limit 

(UPL) 
Final Medicaid 

Payments 

Final Third-
Party 

Payments 

Final Total 
Medicaid 
Payments 

Final 
Supplemental 

Payment 

A0425 1,792 $   9.30 $16,656.64 $8,816.64 $   0.00 $8,816.64 $7,840.00 

A0426   0 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 

A0427  77 $ 399.98 $30,798.65 $25,019.61 $   0.00 $25,019.61 $5,779.04 

A0428   0 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 

A0429  87 $ 394.82 $34,348.91 $22,247.64 $   0.00 $22,247.64 $12,101.27 

A0433   0 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 

A0434   0 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 

Total 1,956 $ 804.10 $81,804.20 $56,083.89 $   0.00 $56,083.89 $25,720.31 

        

Interim Payment Paid March 23, 2023 $   0.00 

Balance of Payment Due To Provider $25,720.31 

    $16,947.11  Federal Share 

    $8,773.20  State Share (IGT) – Provider Payment To DCH 

$25,720.31   Final Supplemental UPL Payment  
 

140

Item X. 11.



Government Owned 
Ground Ambulance UPL Notification 

Page 2 of 150 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Equal Opportunity Employer 

Healthcare Facility Regulation   |   Medical Assistance Plans   |   State Health Benefit Plan  |  Health Planning 

The intergovernmental transfer (IGT) must be received by noon on February 15, 2024, to ensure providers receive their payment 
by February 29, 2024. If an IGT is not received by the deadline, the provider’s supplemental UPL payment will be delayed. 
 

To assure that the timely receipt of intergovernmental transfers (IGT) can be confirmed, a Notice of Intent to Transfer Form must 
be submitted by Wednesday, February 6, 2024, to document the expected method of transfer.  The Department has implemented 
use of DocuSign, an electronic signature program, for the completion and submission of the completed Notice of Intent to Transfer 
Form.  Use this link (click here) to access the Notice of Intent to Transfer Form. The Notice of Intent to Transfer Form should only 
be completed by an authorized provider representative.  
 
The February 29, 2024, payment will be issued by ACH to the bank account listed in the Georgia Medicaid Management 
Information System (GAMMIS) for your facility. 
 
Typically, there is a 3 or 4-day delay between when ACH transactions are initiated and when the funds are deposited into a 
provider’s bank account.  
 
Please be aware that the Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) reserves the right to adjust the UPL calculation 
either positively or negatively.   
 
If you have any questions, please contact Angelica Clark Hester, Senior Manager at aclark@dch.ga.gov. 
 

 
  

141

Item X. 11.

https://us.services.docusign.net/webforms-ux/v1.0/forms/85a18a96e76c58d8fe023726c1a663ed�
mailto:aclark@dch.ga.gov�


Government Owned 
Ground Ambulance UPL Notification 

Page 3 of 150 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Equal Opportunity Employer 

Healthcare Facility Regulation   |   Medical Assistance Plans   |   State Health Benefit Plan  |  Health Planning 

Instructions for Ground Ambulance UPL Intergovernmental Transfers 
 

 
• Intergovernmental transfer for Ground Ambulance UPL payment is due by 12 p.m. on 

Thursday, February 15, 2024. NO EXCEPTIONS 
  
• Intergovernmental Transfers can be accepted only from hospital authorities or other 

governmental entities. Transfers cannot be accepted from participating providers. 
 
• Payments can only be made by wire transfer or ACH transfer; no checks will be accepted. 
 
• Payment made by wire transfer should be sent to: 
  

Bank Routing Number:  021000021 
SWIFT CODE:  CHASUS33 
 
General Bank Ref Address:  JPM Chase 

383 Madison Avenue 
New York, NY 10017 

 
Account Number:   20000011129927 
Account Name:  Intergovernmental Transfers 

  
Please include as “attached information” the name of the Ground Ambulance provider 
affiliated with the hospital authority or governmental entity. 

 
• Payment made by ACH transfer should be sent to: 
  

Bank Routing Number:  028000024 
Account Number:  20000011129927 
Account Name:  Intergovernmental Transfers 

  
Please include as “attached information” the name of the Ground Ambulance provider 
affiliated with the hospital authority or governmental entity. 

 
Questions regarding transfer procedures should be directed to Ms. Rochella Chimedza, Revenue 
Manager by e-mail at rochella.chimedza@dch.ga.gov or by telephone at (470) 540-3949.

Please note that separate instructions are provided for payments made by wire transfers or 
by ACH transfers. 

142

Item X. 11.

mailto:rochella.chimedza@dch.ga.gov�


Staff Report 

 
Subject:    FY 2023 Budget Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 2/6/24  

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the FY 2023 Budget. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval of this FY 2023 budget amendment. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year the Board of Commissioners proposes a tentative budget. During the year, 

the Board receives requests from agencies and department heads to adjust the budget. 

Additionally, other factors, such as revenue, may fluctuate thereby allowing the Board to 

direct that additional expenditures be made. Therefore, a formal budget resolution 

incorporating these factors is made to adjust the budget accordingly.  

 

Background: 

Georgia Law 6-81-3. Requires the establishment of fiscal year; requirement of annual 
balanced budget; adoption of budget ordinances or resolutions generally; budget 
amendments; uniform chart of accounts. Section (b)(1) notes that each unit of local 
government shall adopt and operate under an annual balanced budget for the general 
fund, each special revenue fund, and each debt service fund in use by the local 
government. The annual balanced budget shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution 
and administered in accordance with this article. 
 
 The budget amendment attached reflects the following changes: 

1. Re-allocation of existing general fund budget: 

a. Re-allocation of existing budget due to reclassification of vehicle 
and copier lease expenses due to accounting standard GASB 87. 
 

2. New funding is requested for some special funds:  
a. Allocation of non-cash GASB 87 loan proceeds revenue. 

 
 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Resolution to amend the budget for FY 2023.  
2. Provide staff with direction. 

 

 

143

Item X. 12.



Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends alternative number 1 – approve the resolution to amend the budget 

for FY 2023. 

 

Other Alternatives: N/A  

 

Department Review: Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Multiple, in amendment 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2023 budget amendment resolution 

144

Item X. 12.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
           Resolution# ____________ 

 

State of Georgia 

County of Effingham 

 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE FY2022-2023 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, the FY 2023 budget of Effingham County was adopted on June 21st, 2022 

and; WHEREAS, it is necessary to further amend said budget to reflect desired changes and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County Effingham, 

Georgia that the following amendment be made: 

 

 
  
 

The amendment is to re-allocate expenses for the GASB 87 lease accounting standard, wherein vehicle and copier lease 

expenses must be classified as debt service. 

 
 Approved this _____ day of ___________   2024. 
 
Attest: 
                                          
Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk   Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman  

DEPT ACCT NO. TYPE AMOUNT DESCRIPTION

003 SOLICITOR'S OFFICE CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-2301-003-58-1200 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

004 PROBATE COURT CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-2450-004-58-1200 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

005 CLERK OF COURTS CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-2150-005-58-1200 EXP 12000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

006 STATE COURT CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-2300-006-58-1200 EXP 500.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

008 ELECTIONS CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-1410-008-58-1200 EXP 3000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

010 MAGISTRATE COURT CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-2400-010-58-1200 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

012 TAX ASSESSORS CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-1550-012-58-1200 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

013 TAX COMMISSIONER LEASED EQUIPMENT 100-1545-013-54-9999 EXP 4000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

014 HUMAN RESOURCES CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-1540-014-58-1200 EXP 3500.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

015 FINANCE OPERATING LEASES/RENTAL COPIER100-1510-015-52-2321 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

015 FINANCE CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-1510-015-58-1200 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

016 PRISON CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-3420-016-58-1200 EXP 2000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

018 ECSO - JAIL CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-3326-018-58-1200 EXP 1500.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

020 EMA LEASED EQUIPMENT 100-3100-020-54-9999 EXP 38000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

020 EMA CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-3100-020-58-1200 EXP 2000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

032 SENIOR CITIZENS CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-5520-032-58-1200 EXP 100.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

053 PROBATION CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 100-3450-053-58-1200 EXP 1000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

117 ECSO - SRO SALARIES 100-3310-117-51-1100 EXP -73600.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

024 DEVELOPMENT SERVICES LEASED EQUIPMENT 272-7401-024-54-9999 EXP 56000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

024 DEVELOPMENT SERVICES CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 272-7401-024-58-1200 EXP 17000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

024 DEVELOPMENT SERVICES PROCEEDS FROM CAPITAL LEASE 272-39-3500 REV -73000.00 to allocate non-cash GASB 87 revenues

029 RECREATION CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 270-6110-029-58-1200 EXP 7000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

029 RECREATION AUTOS & TRUCKS 270-6110-029-54-2201 EXP -7000.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

035 E911 CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 215-3800-035-58-1201 EXP 1500.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

035 E911 SALARIES 215-3800-035-51-1100 EXP -1500.00 to re-allocate for GASB 87 leases

0.00 net entries

BUDGET AMENDMENTS

145

Item X. 12.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    FY 2024 Budget Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 2/6/24 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval of an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year the Board of Commissioners proposes a tentative budget. During the year, 

the Board receives requests from agencies and department heads to adjust the budget. 

Additionally, other factors, such as revenue, may fluctuate thereby allowing the Board to 

direct that additional expenditures be made. Therefore, a formal budget resolution 

incorporating these factors is made to adjust the budget accordingly.  

 

Background: 

Georgia Law 6-81-3. Requires the establishment of fiscal year; requirement of annual 
balanced budget; adoption of budget ordinances or resolutions generally; budget 
amendments; uniform chart of accounts. Section (b)(1) notes that each unit of local 
government shall adopt and operate under an annual balanced budget for the general 
fund, each special revenue fund, and each debt service fund in use by the local 
government. The annual balanced budget shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution 
and administered in accordance with this article. 
 
  
The budget amendment attached reflects the following changes: 

1. Allocating additional funding for Development Services in several 
categories, including legal advertisements, training courses and 
membership dues, uniforms, and operating supplies. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the resolution to amend the budget for FY 2024.  
2. Do not approve the resolution. 

3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

 

 

 

 

146

Item X. 13.



Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the resolution to amend the budget 

for FY 2024. 

 

Other Alternatives:  

N/A  

 

Department Review:  

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Multiple 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2024 budget amendment resolution 

147

Item X. 13.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
           Resolution# ____________ 

 

State of Georgia 

County of Effingham 

 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE FY 2024 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, the FY 2024 budget of Effingham County was adopted on June 6th, 2023 

and; WHEREAS, it is necessary to further amend said budget to reflect desired changes and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County Effingham, 

Georgia that the following amendment be made: 

 

 
 
 

This amendment allocates funding for Development Services in several categories, including legal 

advertisements, training courses and membership dues, uniforms, and operating supplies. 

 
 Approved this _____ day of ___________   2024. 
 
Attest: 
 
 
                                          
Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk   Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman  

DEPT DEPT NAME ACCT NAME ACCT NO. TYPE AMOUNT DESCRIPTION

272 DEV. SERVICES UNIFORMS 272-7401-024-53-1701-1 EXP 2400.00 allocate funding for additional uniforms

272 DEV. SERVICES ADVERTISEMENT 272-7401-024-52-3301-1 EXP 9600.00 allocate funding for legal advertisements

272 DEV. SERVICES OPERATING SUPPLIES 272-7401-024-53-1102 EXP 11060.00 allocate funding for workshops, field tablets, phones

272 DEV. SERVICES TRAINING SCHOOLS & SEMINARS272-7401-024-52-3702 EXP 4200.00 allocate funding for wetland & stormwater training

272 DEV. SERVICES MEMBERSHIP DUES 272-7401-024-52-3705 EXP 7240.00 allocating funding for professional org dues

272 DEV. SERVICES BUILDING PERMITS 272-32-3100 REV -34500.00 allocate increased revenues

0.00 net entries

148

Item X. 13.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval and publication of new job descriptions and job titles for various 
departments. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Approval and publication of new job descriptions and job titles for 
various departments. 
 
Summary Recommendation: 
Staff requests authorization to approve and publish new job descriptions and titles for 
various departments. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
Solid Waste Coordinator: this position is responsible for planning, developing, 
coordinating, implementing, and promoting recycling and waste reduction programs and 
activities for county departments, supervisors, department Director and employees, and 
the residents of unincorporated areas.  
 
Health, Wellness, and Safety Coordinator: This position investigates and mitigates loss 
or potential loss to the County, ensures the safety of our workforce, and performs 
administrative duties in support of the County’s Risk Management Program. This position 
will also coordinate, plan, and facilitate health and fitness activities and programs for 
employees while supporting the Director and assisting with coordinating a comprehensive 
wellness program.  

 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1. Approve the job descriptions and titles and authorize publication and distribution. 
2. Disapprove the job description and guide staff. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1. 
 
Other Alternatives: None. 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Development Services, and Human Resources. 
 
Funding Source: Funding through current budgets. 
 
Attachment: Solid Waste Coordinator Job Description 
  Health, Wellness, and Safety Coordinator Job Description 

149

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

Job Title: Health, Wellness, and Safety 

Coordinator Job Code: 

Reports to: Director, HR and Risk 

Management FLSA Status: Non-Exempt 

Department: HR and Risk Management Approved:  

Class specifications are intended to present a descriptive list of the range of duties 

employees perform in the class. Specifications are not intended to reflect all tasks 

performed within the job. 

Position Overview: 

The position investigates and mitigates loss or potential loss to the County, ensures the 

safety of our workforce, and performs administrative duties in support of the County's 

Risk Management Program. I coordinated, planned, and facilitated health and fitness 

activities and programs for employees while supporting the Director and assisting with 

coordinating a comprehensive wellness program.  

  

 Principal Duties and Responsibilities (Essential Functions**): 

The following duties are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all 

the listed tasks. They may be required to perform additional or different duties from 

those set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 

Oversees and monitors liability claims activities, investigates incidents/accidents, and 

recommends solutions to minimize exposure. 

 

Prepares quarterly loss data reports for trending, loss comparisons, and safety 

analysis. 

 

Monitors claim activities, ensuring correct information is relayed to insurance 

companies and employees.  

 

Provides recommendations/actions for problem-solving in safety, loss control, and 

other risk management areas. 

 

Facilitates oversight and monitoring of driver's license program and drug and alcohol 

testing for post-injury, post-accident, and safety-sensitive programs. 

 

150

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Health, Wellness, and Safety 

Coordinator Job Code:   

  

 

Conducts annual on-site property inspections with ACCG representatives and 

ensures corrective actions are completed promptly. 

 

Provides training classes in various areas of driving, accident, and liability issues. 

 

Serves as a Haz-Mat responder, providing information on property damage/liability. 

Ensures employees responding have necessary Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

procedures are followed to limit employee injury. 

 

Assists with leading a comprehensive wellness program. 

 

Coordinates, plans, and facilitates employee health and fitness activities and 

programs.  

 

Plans and implements classes, speakers, and seminars that promote healthy lifestyles.  

 

Develops promotion and publicity plans for wellness throughout the County. 

 

Provides educational presentations and training programs.  

 

Assists the Director with the Wellness Committee.  

 

Regular and routine attendance at work is required. 

 

Work schedules to include rotating shifts, hours of work, and days off may be 

changed at any time for the County's needs and at the supervisor's discretion. 

 

 

 

Minimum Qualifications 

 

Bachelor's degree in risk management, with one (1) year experience in accident 

investigation, risk management, or safety regulation enforcement or a bachelor's 

degree in business or public administration, with additional training in safety 

regulations, insurance, risk management; or an equivalent combination of 

education, training, and experience. 

 

Must possess and maintain a valid driver's license with an acceptable driving history. 

151

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Health, Wellness, and Safety 

Coordinator Job Code:   

  

 

 

Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities 

 

Knowledge of Workers' Compensation procedures, policies, and laws. 

 

Knowledge of accident investigation techniques. 

 

Knowledge of modern office practices and procedures. 

 

Knowledge of computers and other modern office equipment. 

 

Skill in public and interpersonal relations. 

 

Skill in oral and written communications.  

 

 

ADA Compliance 

 

Physical Ability:  Tasks require the ability to exert moderate, though not constant, 

physical effort, typically involving some combination of climbing and balancing, 

stooping, kneeling, crouching, and crawling, and which may involve some lifting, 

carrying, pushing, or pulling of objects and materials of moderate weight (20-50 

pounds). 

 

Sensory Requirements: See in the normal visual range with or without correction; vision 

sufficient to read computer screens. Some tasks require perceiving and discriminating 

sounds, depth, and visual cues or signals.   

 

Environmental Factors: Primary functions require sufficient physical ability to work in an 

office setting and operate office equipment. Some essential functions' performance 

may require exposure to adverse environmental conditions, such as dirt, dust, pollen, 

odors, wetness, humidity, rain, fumes, temperature and noise extremes, toxic agents, 

or pathogenic substances.  

152

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

Job Title:  Solid Waste Coordinator Job Code:  

Reports to: Development Services Director FLSA Status:  Non-Exempt 

Department: Development Services Approved  

 

Class specifications are intended to present a descriptive list of the range of duties 

performed by employees in the class. Specifications are not intended to reflect all duties 

performed within the job. 

 

Position Overview: 

 

 The purpose of this position is ensuring compliance with the solid waste contract, to 

provide excellent customer service, to ensure collections are done on time and 

according to the contract terms, to notify the County Manager when the contract is up 

for renewal, to accurately keep a database of customer complaints and questions, 

responses given to said complaints. Work in conjunction with the Finance department for 

accurate collections of tax money for the containers that have been distributed. Ensure 

compliance with federal, state, and local regulations involving the transfer station.  

 

 

Principal Duties and Responsibilities (Essential Functions**): 

 

The following duties are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all the 

listed duties and/or may be required to perform additional or different duties from those 

set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 

Plans, develops, coordinates, implements, and promotes recycling and waste reduction 

programs and activities for county departments, supervisors, department Director and 

employees, and the residents of unincorporated areas. 

Develops specifications and requests for proposal or qualifications for consulting and 

contract services, implements, and monitors various program contracts including review 

of work and authorizing payment. 

Assists in monitoring contractor performance for contracts including Waste to Energy 

(WTE) and landfill disposal facilities and various programs through field inspections and 

data review. 

Develops budgets and monitors expenditures for assigned projects. 

153

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Solid Waste Coordinator Job Code:  

  

 
Office of Human Resources  Page 2 of 5 
 

Develops, prepares, and maintains standard operating procedures for various functions 

within the department. 

Tracks trends of scale house customer service needs, expectations, and recurring 

problems, analyzes, develops and updates transfer station customer service processes, 

prepares flow charts, and makes recommendations for change. 

Develops and updates emergency plans on preparedness, response, recovery, and 

mitigation for all possible disasters that could affect Pinellas County. 

Coordinates programs and activities with federal, state, and local agencies, 

municipalities, public school, and local businesses to support a concerted effort toward 

achievement of the state mandated percentage recycling goal. 

Monitors, inspects, and coordinates contract requirements concerning WTE facility 

operation, landfill operation, franchise collection, and reef construction. 

Compiles data for statistical tabulation and analysis; submits comprehensive reports to 

state and local officials covering the current accomplishments of recycling and 

Coordinates department website updates. 

Performs educational outreach by giving tours and presentations. 

Provides information to the public about: trash, recycling, medicine disposal, and 

disposal of chemicals and electronics. 

Responds to customer inquiries and complaints related to assigned contracts and 

programs. 

Performs other related job duties as assigned waste reduction programs. 

Duties and responsibilities may be added, deleted, or changed at any time at the 

discretion of supervisor, formally or informally, either verbally or in writing. 

 

Work schedules, to include rotating shifts, hours of work and days off may be changed 

at any time at the discretion of the supervisor to fit the needs of the County. 

 

Regular and routine attendance at work is required. 

154

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Solid Waste Coordinator Job Code:  

  

 
Office of Human Resources  Page 3 of 5 
 

 

Performs other related duties as assigned. 

 

Performs related duties as required.  

 

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

High school diploma or GED; supplemented by college level course work or  specialized 

training in building trades, criminal justice, public administration, or other related fields 

such as International Code Council (ICC), Georgia Association of Code Enforcement 

(GACE), or Peace Officer Standards and Training (P.O.S.T);  and three (3) years previous 

experience and/or training involving a high level of public contact with some 

experience dealing with the public in an enforcement, inspection, investigation, or 

customer service capacity; or any equivalent combination of education, training, and 

experience which provides the requisite knowledge, skills, and abilities for this job.  Must 

possess and maintain a valid Georgia driver’s license. Must possess or can obtain 

certification as a Code Enforcement Officer issued by the ICC or GACE. 

 

PERFORMANCE APTITUDES 

Data Utilization:   

Requires the ability to review, classify, categorize, prioritize, and/or analyze data.  

Includes exercising discretion in determining data classification, and in referencing such 

analysis to established standards for the purpose of recognizing actual or probable 

interactive effects and relationships.   

Human Interaction:   

Requires the ability to apply principles of persuasion and/or influence. 

Equipment, Machinery, Tools, and Materials Utilization:   

Requires the ability to operate, maneuver and/or control the actions of equipment, 

machinery, tools, and/or materials used in performing essential functions. 

 

155

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Solid Waste Coordinator Job Code:  

  

 
Office of Human Resources  Page 4 of 5 
 

Verbal Aptitude:   

Requires the ability to utilize a wide variety of reference, descriptive, and/or advisory data, 

and information. 

Mathematical Aptitude:   

Requires the ability to perform addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division; ability to 

calculate decimals and percentages; may include ability to perform mathematical 

operations with fractions; may include ability to compute discount, interest, profit and loss, 

ratio, and proportion; may include ability to calculate surface areas, volumes, weights, and 

measures. 

Functional Reasoning:  

 Requires the ability to apply principles of rational systems; to interpret instructions furnished 

in written, oral, diagrammatic, or schedule form; and to exercise independent judgment 

to adopt or modify methods and standards to meet variations in assigned objectives. 

Situational Reasoning:   

Requires the ability to exercise judgment, decisiveness and creativity in situations involving 

evaluation of information against measurable or verifiable criteria. 

 

ADA COMPLIANCE 

Physical Ability:    

Tasks require the ability to exert moderate, though not constant physical effort, typically 

involving some combination of climbing and balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, 

and crawling, and which may involve some lifting, carrying, pushing and/or pulling of 

objects and materials of moderate weight (12-20 pounds). 

Sensory Requirements:  

Some tasks require the ability to perceive and discriminate visual cues or signals.  Some 

tasks require the ability to communicate orally. 

 

156

Item X. 14.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Solid Waste Coordinator Job Code:  

  

 
Office of Human Resources  Page 5 of 5 
 

Environmental Factors:  

Performance of essential functions may require exposure to adverse environmental 

conditions, such as dirt, dust, pollen, wetness, humidity, temperature extremes, or traffic 

hazards. 

 
** To comply with regulations by the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), the 
principal duties in job descriptions must be essential to the job. To identify essential 
functions, focus on the purpose and the result of the duties rather than the way 
they are performed. The following definition applies: a job function is essential if 
removal of that function would fundamentally change the job. 

 

  

157

Item X. 14.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval of Amendment to Administrative Services Agreement. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Request approval of Amendment to Administrative Services 
Agreement 
 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approving this amendment, which took effect March 1, 2023, for 
Disease Management services. 
 

Alternatives 
 

1. Recommend approval of Amendment to Administrative Services Agreement. 
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 

 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager and Human Resources.  
 
Funding Source: None 
 
Attachment: 0323- Effingham County Board of Commissioners- Amendment. 

158

Item X. 15.



0323 – Effingham County Board of Commissioners – Amendment               1v091523 

AMENDMENT TO 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
This Amendment to the Administrative Services Agreement (this “Amendment”) dated as of March 01, 2023 
(the “Amendment Effective Date”) amends the Administrative Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) entered 
into as of January 01, 2021, as amended, by and between Meritain Health, Inc. (“Meritain”) and Effingham 
County Board of Commissioners  (“Client”) as follows: 
 
1. FEE SCHEDULE 
 
A. The Administrative Rates set forth under Section 1 of the Fee Schedule is hereby amended to add the 
following new Administrative Fees commencing as of March 01, 2023 through December 31, 2023: 
 

 
B. As of March 01, 2023 the following Administrative Fees set forth under Section 1 of the Fee Schedule are 
hereby deleted:  
 

  
2. ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES SCHEDULE.  
  
A. Section 3 of the Administrative Services Schedule of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following 
new paragraph: 
 
Meritain, through its affiliate Aetna, has value-based contracting (“VBC”) arrangements with contracted Providers 
within the PPN (“Network Providers”). These arrangements reward providers based on indicators of value, such 
as, effective population health management, efficiency and quality care. Contracted rates with Network Providers 
may be based on fee-for-service rates, case rates, per diems, performance-based contract arrangements, risk-
adjustment mechanisms, quality incentives, pay-for-performance and other incentive and adjustment 
mechanisms. These mechanisms may include payments to physicians, physician groups, health systems, and 
other Provider organizations, including but not limited to organizations that may refer to themselves as 
accountable care organizations and patient-centered medical homes, in the form of periodic payments and 
incentive arrangements based on performance. Meritain will process any incentive payments or other payments 
or adjustments attributable to the Plan in accordance with the terms of each VBC arrangement or adjustment 
mechanism. Each customer’s results will vary. It is possible that incentives paid to a particular Network Provider 
or health system may be required even if Client’s own population did not experience the same financial or 
qualitative improvements. It is also possible that incentives will not be paid to a Network Provider even if Client’s 
own population did experience financial and quality improvements. Upon request, Meritain will provide additional 
information regarding our VBC arrangements. In lieu of VBC payments some Network Providers may charge an 
additional network access fee for a preferred network arrangement. In instances where this may be applicable, 
Client will be responsible for the fee. 
 
3. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

Any capitalized term not defined in this Amendment shall have the meaning ascribed to it in the Agreement. 
Except as specifically amended by the terms of this Amendment, all surviving terms, provisions, and fees of the 
Agreement are hereby ratified and confirmed and the Agreement, as modified by this Amendment, remains in 
full force and effect. 
 

Administrative Services Fee Frequency of Occurrence 

Disease Management (plus a $130 per hour case 
fee) 

$2.10 Per Employee Per Month 

Administrative Services Fee Frequency of Occurrence 

Disease Management (plus a $130 per hour case 
fee) 

$1.25 Per Employee Per Month 

159

Item X. 15.



0323 – Effingham County Board of Commissioners – Amendment               2v091523 

In Witness Whereof, the parties have executed this Amendment on the dates set forth below. 
 
 

MERITAIN HEALTH, INC.  
EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS 

 

  

Name:  Michael S. Thomas  Name:  

Title:  Regional President  Title:  

Date:  December 12, 2023  Date:  

 
 
 
 
 

160

Item X. 15.



 

 

Staff Report 
Subject:    City of Springfield Annexation - Map# 410 Parcel# 61-63 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration to approve a Petition for Annexation as submitted by the City 

of Springfield for a property consisting of approximately 9.25 acres located adjacent to GA Hwy 21 

Map# 410 Parcel# 61-63 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

According to an aerial photography provided by Effingham County GIS data, this parcel is 

contiguous with other properties within the city limits of Springfield.  
 

Executive Summary: 

As required under state law O.C.G.A §36-36-6 upon accepting an application for annexation or a 

petition for annexation, the governing authority of the annexing municipality shall provide written 

notice to the governing authority of the county where the proposed annexation is located.  

 

A public hearing of the City of Springfield’s Planning & Zoning Board and the Mayor and City 

Council will be held February 27, 2024, at 6:00 pm to consider this petition. Said property is 

currently zoned AR-1, proposed zoning upon annexation will be B-1. 
 

Background: 

Annexation documentation was received via certified mail from the City of Springfield. This parcel 

identified as Map# 410 Parcel# 61-63 consisting of approximately 9.25 acres, remaining property 

approximately 63.25 acres (owned by Lynda & John E. White) is located on GA Hwy 21.  This 

property lies within the Springfield’s water and sewer service area. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Acknowledge the Petition Requesting Annexation as presented by the City of Springfield 
2. Do not approve the Petition Requesting Annexation. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff leaves the decision to the Board’s discretion.   
 

Other Alternatives: N/A Department Review: Administration  
 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Petition for Annexation 
2. Aerial Map (related parcels and depicting city boundary) 

 

161

Item X. 16.



 
 
 

 

Tim Callanan 1/23/2024 
County Administrator, Effingham County  
804  S. Laurel Street   
Springfield, GA 31329  
  
Reference: Notice of Annexation Petition regarding parcel 410-61, 410-62, 410-63 
 
Dear Mr. Callanan 
 
In accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 36-36-6 and 36-36-111, please be advised that the City of 
Springfield, Georgia, by the authority vested in the Mayor and Council of the City by Article 2 of 
Chapter 36, Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, will vote whether or not to annex the 
property hereinafter described by ordinance at a regular meeting of the Mayor and City Council on 
December 12, 2023.  
 
The properties being considered for annexation are parcel number 410-61, 410-62, 410-63 1479 
Hwy 21 S consisting of approximately 72 acres in total. A plat and legal description of this property 
are enclosed, along with a copy of the annexation petition and a map showing the location of the 
area to be annexed.  
 
Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-36-7 and O.C.G.A. § 36-36-9, you must notify the governing authority of 
the City of Springfield, in writing and by certified mail, return receipt requested, of any county 
facilities or property located within the property to be annexed within 5 business days of receipt of 
this letter.  If the County has an objection under O.C.G.A.§ 36-36-113, in accordance with the 
statutory objection and resolution process, you must notify the City of Springfield within 45 
calendar days of the receipt of this notice.  
 
The following public hearings will be held regarding the rezoning of the properties being 
considered for annexation from Effingham County Zoning Classification AR-1 to Springfield Zoning 
Classification of B-1 “General Commercial District” for approx. 9.25 acres adjacent to GA Hwy 21; 
and R-2B “Townhome Residential District” for the remaining approx. 63.25 acres:   
 
 
Public Hearing of the Planning & Zoning Board and The Mayor and City Council:   
February 27, 2024 at 6:00pm  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Erin Phillips 
Community Development Director 

162

Item X. 16.



 
 
 

 

Tim Callanan 1/23/2024 
County Administrator, Effingham County  
804  S. Laurel Street   
Springfield, GA 31329  
  
Reference: Notice of Annexation Petition regarding parcel 410-61, 410-62, 410-63 
 
Dear Mr. Callanan 
 
In accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 36-36-6 and 36-36-111, please be advised that the City of 
Springfield, Georgia, by the authority vested in the Mayor and Council of the City by Article 2 of 
Chapter 36, Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, will vote whether or not to annex the 
property hereinafter described by ordinance at a regular meeting of the Mayor and City Council on 
December 12, 2023.  
 
The properties being considered for annexation are parcel number 410-61, 410-62, 410-63 1479 
Hwy 21 S consisting of approximately 72 acres in total. A plat and legal description of this property 
are enclosed, along with a copy of the annexation petition and a map showing the location of the 
area to be annexed.  
 
Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-36-7 and O.C.G.A. § 36-36-9, you must notify the governing authority of 
the City of Springfield, in writing and by certified mail, return receipt requested, of any county 
facilities or property located within the property to be annexed within 5 business days of receipt of 
this letter.  If the County has an objection under O.C.G.A.§ 36-36-113, in accordance with the 
statutory objection and resolution process, you must notify the City of Springfield within 45 
calendar days of the receipt of this notice.  
 
The following public hearings will be held regarding the rezoning of the properties being 
considered for annexation from Effingham County Zoning Classification AR-1 to Springfield Zoning 
Classification of B-1 “General Commercial District” for approx. 9.25 acres adjacent to GA Hwy 21; 
and R-2B “Townhome Residential District” for the remaining approx. 63.25 acres:   
 
 
Public Hearing of the Planning & Zoning Board and The Mayor and City Council:   
February 27, 2024 at 6:00pm  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Erin Phillips 
Community Development Director 

163

Item X. 16.



164

Item X. 16.



165

Item X. 16.



166

Item X. 16.



167

Item X. 16.



168

Item X. 16.



169

Item X. 16.



170

Item X. 16.



171

Item X. 16.



172

Item X. 16.



173

Item X. 16.



174

Item X. 16.



175

Item X. 16.



176

Item X. 16.



177

Item X. 16.



178

Item X. 16.



179

Item X. 16.



180

Item X. 16.



181

Item X. 16.



182

Item X. 16.



183

Item X. 16.



BE
EB

E R
D

BLU
FF

RO
AD

LL BURNSROAD

CIT
Y O

F
SPR

ING
FIE

LDEB
EN

EZ
ER

BLU
FF

WA
Y

COLONIALWAY

SAINTMATTHEW WAY

SAINTPHILLIP WAY

HWY 21 S

LORDEFFINGHAM WAY

GOLF LN
HIG

HL
AN

DP
OIN

TE
DR

ECBOC

410-61, 410-62, & 410-63
NOTICE OF ANNEXATION BY CITY OF SPRINGFIELD

Effingham County Board of Commissioners MeetingFebruary 6, 2023
                                                             

S131-60

S115-2TPO

S115-1A

410-2

410-62410-63

410-61

Springfield Public Hearing February 27, 2024

Legend
Interstate
Collector
Arterial
Local
Proposed Parcel Annexation
County Parcels
Municipal Boundary

HWY 21 S

Inset Not To Scale

Vicinity Map

q

184

Item X. 16.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Conditional Use (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
 
Item Description: Eric Smith requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located at 445 Golden 
Drive. [Map# 450A Parcel# 56] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a rural 
business. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Residential Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. 

 The applicant requests a conditional use to operate a RV remodeling business. 

 The property is currently zoned AR-1 and Golden Drive is a County maintained road.  

 Applicant is working through the conditional use process to come into compliance, as this is an on-going 

Code Enforcement investigation. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with 

the following added conditions: 

- A maximum number of 5 campers is allowed on the property at a time. 

- A 7ft privacy fence around the area where the rural business will take place. 

- Only interior maintenance may be performed on the campers/RV, no automotive or paint repair. 

 Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

 
Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request of a conditional use for a rural business with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall provide proof of residence. 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate 

(business license). 

- A maximum number of 5 campers is allowed on the property at a time. 

- A 7ft privacy fence around the area where the rural business will take place. 

- Only interior maintenance may be performed on the campers/RV, no automotive or paint repair.    

 

2. Deny the request of a conditional use for a rural business. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph 3. Deed 

 

185

Item XIV. 1.



186

Item XIV. 1.



187

Item XIV. 1.



188

Item XIV. 1.



189

Item XIV. 1.



190

Item XIV. 1.



191

Item XIV. 1.



192

Item XIV. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
 
Item Description: Eric Smith requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located at 445 Golden 
Drive. [Map# 450A Parcel# 56] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a rural 
business. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Residential Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. 

 The applicant requests a conditional use to operate a RV remodeling business. 

 The property is currently zoned AR-1 and Golden Drive is a County maintained road.  

 Applicant is working through the conditional use process to come into compliance, as this is an on-going 

Code Enforcement investigation. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with 

the following added conditions: 

- A maximum number of 5 campers is allowed on the property at a time. 

- A 7ft privacy fence around the area where the rural business will take place. 

- Only interior maintenance may be performed on the campers/RV, no automotive or paint repair. 

 Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

 
Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request of a conditional use for a rural business with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall provide proof of residence. 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate 

(business license). 

- A maximum number of 5 campers is allowed on the property at a time. 

- A 7ft privacy fence around the area where the rural business will take place. 

- Only interior maintenance may be performed on the campers/RV, no automotive or paint repair.    

 

2. Deny the request of a conditional use for a rural business. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 

 

193

Item XIV. 2.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

450A-56 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

450A-56 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, ERIC SMITH has filed an application for a conditional use to allow for a rural business; map and parcel number 

450A-56, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for a rural business; map and parcel number 450A-56, located 

in the 2nd commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall provide proof of residence. 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate (business 

license). 

- A maximum number of 5 campers is allowed on the property at a time. 

- A 7ft privacy fence around the area where the rural business will take place. 

- Only interior maintenance may be performed on the campers/RV, no automotive or paint repair.    

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

194

Item XIV. 2.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Conditional Use (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
 
Item Description: Hallie Myers as agent for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. requests a conditional use for an 
Agritourism Business. Located at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road. [Map# 285 Parcel# 5] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request for a 
conditional use for an Agritourism Business.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Agritourism Business - Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning 

Ordinance, Article V – Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.1.2.13 - Agritourism Business  

 At the June 6, 2023, Board of Commissioners meeting, a conditional use for a rural business, to allow for 

an equine therapy facility was approved.  

 On November 7, 2023, the Agritourism Business ordinance had its second reading and was passed 

unanimously by the Board of Commissioners.  

 The applicant is requesting the Agritourism Business conditional use as their future plans to expand include 

a workshop to provide job training for people with disabilities, and a classroom and covered arena for 

equine programs. 

 The largest building the applicant plans to erect in the future, the covered arena, will be placed in the 

middle of the property and will be 500ft from the road and 350ft from property lines. 

 Staff and the applicants have met multiple times to discuss the original rural business and Agritourism 

Business conditional use. The applicants have provided all necessary documentation including a concept 

site plan and a business narrative.   

 The applicant has continuously worked with staff while the Agritourism Business ordinance was in draft 

form, with plans to apply for Agritourism Business when it was complete.     

 Per the Agritourism Business ordinance, examples of uses permitted include the following: 

1. On-farm sales 

2. Pick your own. 

3. Agricultural crafts/ gift sales 

4. Fee fishing/ hunting 

5. Wildlife viewing and photography. 

6. Equine related activities 

7. Wagon rides 

8. School tours 

9. Garden/ Nursery tours 

10. Farm Technical Demonstrations and sales 

(canning, weaving, soap-making, etc.) 

11. Winery tastings or tours 

12. Corn mazes 

13. Haunted attractions 

14. Small, private zoological attractions or 

sanctuary 

15. Christmas tree farms  

195

Item XIV. 3.



 This conditional use for Agritourism Business is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area as 

well. This parcel is projected to be an agricultural area.  

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval. The motion 

was second by Mr. Brad Smith and carried unanimously.   

Alternatives  
 

1. Approve the request of a conditional use for an Agritourism Business with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate 

(business license). 

2. Deny the request of a conditional use for an Agritourism Business. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Concept Plan 3. Business Narrative   

4.Aerial photograph   5. Deed 
 

 

196

Item XIV. 3.



197

Item XIV. 3.



198

Item XIV. 3.



199

Item XIV. 3.



200

Item XIV. 3.



201

Item XIV. 3.



202

Item XIV. 3.



203

Item XIV. 3.



204

Item XIV. 3.



205

Item XIV. 3.



206

Item XIV. 3.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
 
Item Description: Hallie Myers as agent for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. requests a conditional use for an 
Agritourism Business. Located at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road. [Map# 285 Parcel# 5] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request for a 
conditional use for an Agritourism Business.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Agritourism Business - Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning 

Ordinance, Article V – Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.1.2.13 - Agritourism Business  

 At the June 6, 2023, Board of Commissioners meeting, a conditional use for a rural business, to allow for 

an equine therapy facility was approved.  

 On November 7, 2023, the Agritourism Business ordinance had its second reading and was passed 

unanimously by the Board of Commissioners.  

 The applicant is requesting the Agritourism Business conditional use as their future plans to expand include 

a workshop to provide job training for people with disabilities, and a classroom and covered arena for 

equine programs. 

 The largest building the applicant plans to erect in the future, the covered arena, will be placed in the 

middle of the property and will be 500ft from the road and 350ft from property lines. 

 Staff and the applicants have met multiple times to discuss the original rural business and Agritourism 

Business conditional use. The applicants have provided all necessary documentation including a concept 

site plan and a business narrative.   

 The applicant has continuously worked with staff while the Agritourism Business ordinance was in draft 

form, with plans to apply for Agritourism Business when it was complete.     

 Per the Agritourism Business ordinance, examples of uses permitted include the following: 

1. On-farm sales 

2. Pick your own. 

3. Agricultural crafts/ gift sales 

4. Fee fishing/ hunting 

5. Wildlife viewing and photography. 

6. Equine related activities 

7. Wagon rides 

8. School tours 

9. Garden/ Nursery tours 

10. Farm Technical Demonstrations and sales 

(canning, weaving, soap-making, etc.) 

11. Winery tastings or tours 

12. Corn mazes 

13. Haunted attractions 

14. Small, private zoological attractions or 

sanctuary 

15. Christmas tree farms  

207

Item XIV. 4.



 This conditional use for Agritourism Business is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area as 

well. This parcel is projected to be an agricultural area.  

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval. The motion 

was second by Mr. Brad Smith and carried unanimously.   

Alternatives  
 

1. Approve the request of a conditional use for an Agritourism Business with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate 

(business license). 

2. Deny the request of a conditional use for an Agritourism Business. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

208

Item XIV. 4.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

285-5 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

285-5 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, HALLIE MYERS AS AGENT FOR BLLUE SKY ACRES, INC. has filed an application for a conditional use 

to allow for an Agritourism business; map and parcel number 285-5, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 9, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for an Agritourism business; map and parcel number 285-5, 

located in the 3rd commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate (business   

license). 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

209

Item XIV. 4.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Variance (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
 
Item Description: Hallie Myers as agent for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. requests a variance from ordinance 
Section 3.4.1, to allow for a reduction in the required buffers. Located at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road. [Map# 285 
Parcel# 5] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request for a variance 
from ordinance Section 3.4.1, to allow for a reduction in the required buffers.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 3.4.1, as this property and surrounding area have 

continually been farmland. A planted buffer in this section would take away from the rural aesthetics of the 

area.   

 The parcel is zoned AR-1 and has frontage on a County maintained road. 

 In June 2023, the applicant received a conditional use for the rural business and is actively working 

towards a conditional use for Agritourism Business. 

 The buffers will be: 

- 0’ buffer along the east property line, there is currently a fence that separates the two parcels. 

- 10’ landscaped buffer along Ardmore Oaky Road 

- 0’ buffer along the west property line, there is currently approximately 20’ of trees. 

- No variance needed along the northern property line as the buffer exceeds 300’.   

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval. The motion 

was approved by Mr. Peter Higgins and carried unanimously.       

 
Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for variance. 

 

2. Deny the request for variance. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph 3. Deed 

210

Item XIV. 5.



211

Item XIV. 5.



212

Item XIV. 5.



213

Item XIV. 5.



214

Item XIV. 5.



215

Item XIV. 5.



216

Item XIV. 5.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
 
Item Description: Hallie Myers as agent for Blue Sky Acres, Inc. requests a variance from ordinance 
Section 3.4.1, to allow for a reduction in the required buffers. Located at 729 Ardmore Oaky Road. [Map# 285 
Parcel# 5] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request for a variance 
from ordinance Section 3.4.1, to allow for a reduction in the required buffers.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 3.4.1, as this property and surrounding area have 

continually been farmland. A planted buffer in this section would take away from the rural aesthetics of the 

area.   

 The parcel is zoned AR-1 and has frontage on a County maintained road. 

 In June 2023, the applicant received a conditional use for the rural business and is actively working 

towards a conditional use for Agritourism Business. 

 The buffers will be: 

- 0’ buffer along the east property line, there is currently a fence that separates the two parcels. 

- 10’ landscaped buffer along Ardmore Oaky Road 

- 0’ buffer along the west property line, there is currently approximately 20’ of trees. 

- No variance needed along the northern property line as the buffer exceeds 300’.   

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval. The motion 

was approved by Mr. Peter Higgins and carried unanimously.       

 
Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for variance. 

 

2. Deny the request for variance. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 

217

Item XIV. 6.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

285-5 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

285-5 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, HALLIE MYERS AS AGENT FOR BLUE SKY ACRES, INC. has filed an application for a variance, to allow 

for a reduction in required buffers; map and parcel number 285-5, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance to allow for a reduction in required buffers ; map and parcel number 285-5, 

located in the 3rd  commissioner district is approved. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

218

Item XIV. 6.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Jamon Jones as agent for Perez Everardo Baca requests to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. Located at 2388 US Highway 80. [Map# 354 Parcel# 28] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from AR-
1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing a ready-mix concrete facility which is a permitted use within I-1 Industrial 

Districts.    

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, ready-mix concrete facilities are light industrial uses.    

 This parcel is currently zoned AR-1; to the north is an industrial zoned parcel, to the east and west are 

agricultural/residential zoned parcels, and to the south is a commercially zoned parcel.   

 Due to the use of this proposed development being light industrial, the buffers required to the 

agricultural/residential zoned parcels is 150 feet, which the applicant has provided.  

 There is an existing building on the parcel that will be utilized as an office. 

 The Future Land Use Map does show this parcel as being transitional with the large amount of industrial 

close by. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made motion for denial. Mr. Peter Higgins 

second the motion. The motion carried 3 to 1 with Mr. Ryan Thompson opposing.  

 The reason for denial was based on the surrounding residential parcels and the fact that this parcel is very 

open with limited buffers.     

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant, with the following 
conditions: 

- A GDOT Permit for access onto US Highway 80 will be required. 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required. 

- A dust remediation plan shall be submitted to the County for review.   

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

 

219

Item XIV. 7.



220

Item XIV. 7.



221

Item XIV. 7.



222

Item XIV. 7.



223

Item XIV. 7.



224

Item XIV. 7.



225

Item XIV. 7.



226

Item XIV. 7.



227

Item XIV. 7.



C
O

A
S

T
A

L
 

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G

A
N

D
 

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G

SHEET NO.

R
E

V
IS
IO

N
S

P
H
: 
(9

1
2
) 
9
6
4
-4

5
0
9

S
A

V
A

N
N

A
H
, 

G
A
 3

1
4
0
5

6
6
0
5
 A

B
E

R
C

O
R

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

1
0

D

S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N

C400

H
IG

H
W

A
Y
 8

0
 I

N
D

U
S

T
R
IA

L
 S
IT

E

E
F
F
IN

G
H

A
M
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
, 

G
E

O
R

G
IA

IM
E

X
 I

N
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 G

R
O

U
P

20 COMPANY VEHICLE SPACES PROVIDED

20 EMPLOYEE SPACES AND 1 ADA SPACE PROVIDED

COMPANY VEHICLE

1 SPACE PER 2 EMPLOYEES ON LARGEST SHIFT PLUS 1 PER 

PARKING REQUIREMENTS: 

IS TO CONSTRUCT A CONCRETE PLANT 

PROPOSED USE: THE PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT 

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA: 3.0 ACRES

TOTAL AREA: 17.5 ACRES

PROPOSED ZONING INFORMATION: I-1

PROPERTY INFORMATION:

(WORKERS WITHOUT SHOWER AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE) 

SEPTIC TANK TO BE DESIGNED BASED ON 25 GPD/PERSON
40 160

SCALE IN FEET

0 80

1 INCH = 40 FEET

RETURN

GDOT REQUIREMENTS TO THE RADIUS

DRIVEWAY TO BE HEAVY DUTY PER

FROM I-1 TO AR

150' BUFFER

FROM I-1 TO AR

150' BUFFER

FROM I-1 TO AR

150' BUFFER

FROM I-1 TO AR

150' BUFFER

FROM I-1 TO B-3

50' BUFFER

SLOPE OF 2.0%

CONCRETE OR ASHPALT WITH A MAXIMUM

ADA PARKING AND SIDEWALK TO BE 

AS AN OFFICE

EXISTING HOUSE TO REMAIN

GEOTECHNICAL ANALYSIS

MATERIAL TO BE DETERMINED BY

21

62' TALL PLANT

ADDITIONAL PARKING FOR COMPANY VEHICLES

EMPLOYEE PARKING

20

50' X 100'

MAINTENANCE/MECHANICAL SHOP

24'

228

Item XIV. 7.



229

Item XIV. 7.



230

Item XIV. 7.



231

Item XIV. 7.



232

Item XIV. 7.



233

Item XIV. 7.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Jamon Jones as agent for Perez Everardo Baca requests to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. Located at 2388 US Highway 80. [Map# 354 Parcel# 28] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from AR-
1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing a ready-mix concrete facility which is a permitted use within I-1 Industrial 

Districts.    

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, ready-mix concrete facilities are light industrial uses.    

 This parcel is currently zoned AR-1; to the north is an industrial zoned parcel, to the east and west are 

agricultural/residential zoned parcels, and to the south is a commercially zoned parcel.   

 Due to the use of this proposed development being light industrial, the buffers required to the 

agricultural/residential zoned parcels is 150 feet, which the applicant has provided.  

 There is an existing building on the parcel that will be utilized as an office. 

 The Future Land Use Map does show this parcel as being transitional with the large amount of industrial 

close by. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made motion for denial. Mr. Peter Higgins 

second the motion. The motion carried 3 to 1 with Mr. Ryan Thompson opposing.  

 The reason for denial was based on the surrounding residential parcels and the fact that this parcel is very 

open with limited buffers.     

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant, with the following 
conditions: 

- A GDOT Permit for access onto US Highway 80 will be required. 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required. 

- A dust remediation plan shall be submitted to the County for review.   

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 17.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

234

Item XIV. 8.



 

 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

354-28 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

354-28 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JAMON JONES AS AGENT FOR PEREZ EVERADO BACA has filed an application to rezone seventeen and 

five hundredth (17.5) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant; map and parcel number 354-28, located in the 1st 

commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT seventeen and five hundredth (17.5) +/- acres; map and parcel number 354-28, located 

in the 1st commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for a concrete plant, with the following conditions: 

- A GDOT Permit for access onto US Highway 80 will be required. 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required. 

- A dust remediation plan shall be submitted to the County for review.   

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

235

Item XIV. 8.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: James Dasher as agent for Peggy Ann Boykin Beck requests to rezone +/- 116 acres 
from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned Document. Located on Earl Laine Road. [Map# 435 
Parcel# 21, 21A, & 21B] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
116 acres from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned Document. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts, 5.15 – PD Planned 

Development District.  

 At the January 17, 2023, Board of Commissioners meeting, the board approved the request to rezone to 

PD residential.  

 On December 4, 2023, the applicant met with Staff during a Technical Review Committee meeting to 

discuss a PD text amendment, as the new PD text now shows approximately 20 new lots with rear loading 

access.   

 The changes for the text amendment come from the wetland delineation that was completed. This allowed 

for lots to be added along Earl Laine Road, with the rear load access.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. These parcels are projected to be 

agricultural/residential.  

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Michael Hughes the engineer for the development 

requested that Sketch Plan condition be removed as the Master Plan that accompanies the PD text has been 

extensively reviewed.  

 Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval. Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

  

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 116 acres from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned 

Document. Located on Earl Laine Road and Hodgeville Road.  
- Buffers along Hodgeville Road shall be replanted per Effingham County Coode of Ordinances, 

section 3.4.2.    

- A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans 

are submitted. 

- Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 – Flood Damage 

Prevention.  

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 116 acres from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned 

Document. Located on Earl Laine Road and Hodgeville Road. 
 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph  

236

Item XIV. 9.



237

Item XIV. 9.



238

Item XIV. 9.



239

Item XIV. 9.



240

Item XIV. 9.



241

Item XIV. 9.



242

Item XIV. 9.



243

Item XIV. 9.



244

Item XIV. 9.



245

Item XIV. 9.



246

Item XIV. 9.



247

Item XIV. 9.



248

Item XIV. 9.



249

Item XIV. 9.



250

Item XIV. 9.



251

Item XIV. 9.



252

Item XIV. 9.



253

Item XIV. 9.



254

Item XIV. 9.



255

Item XIV. 9.



256

Item XIV. 9.



257

Item XIV. 9.



258

Item XIV. 9.



259

Item XIV. 9.



260

Item XIV. 9.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: James Dasher as agent for Peggy Ann Boykin Beck requests to rezone +/- 116 acres 
from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned Document. Located on Earl Laine Road. [Map# 435 
Parcel# 21, 21A, & 21B] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
116 acres from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned Document. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts, 5.15 – PD Planned 

Development District.  

 At the January 17, 2023, Board of Commissioners meeting, the board approved the request to rezone to 

PD residential.  

 On December 4, 2023, the applicant met with Staff during a Technical Review Committee meeting to 

discuss a PD text amendment, as the new PD text now shows approximately 20 new lots with rear loading 

access.   

 The changes for the text amendment come from the wetland delineation that was completed. This allowed 

for lots to be added along Earl Laine Road, with the rear load access.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. These parcels are projected to be 

agricultural/residential.  

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Michael Hughes the engineer for the development 

requested that Sketch Plan condition be removed as the Master Plan that accompanies the PD text has been 

extensively reviewed.  

 Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval. Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

  

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 116 acres from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned 

Document. Located on Earl Laine Road and Hodgeville Road.  
- Buffers along Hodgeville Road shall be replanted per Effingham County Coode of Ordinances, 

section 3.4.2.    

- A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans 

are submitted. 

- Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 – Flood Damage 

Prevention.  

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 116 acres from PD to PD to allow for an amendment of the Planned 

Document. Located on Earl Laine Road and Hodgeville Road. 
 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

261

Item XIV. 10.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

436-3&435-21,21A, &21B 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

436-3&435-21,21A, &21B 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JAMES DASHER AS AGENT FOR PEGGY ANN BOYKIN BECK has filed an application to rezone one 

hundred and sixteen (116) +/- acres; from PD to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development; map and parcel number 

436-3 & 435-21, 21A, & 21B, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one hundred and sixteen (116) +/- acres; map and parcel number 436-3 & 435-21, 21A, 

& 21B, located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from PD to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development with 

the following conditions: 

- Buffers along Hodgeville Road shall be replanted per Effingham County Coode of Ordinances, section 3.4.2.    

- A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are submitted. 

- Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the 

Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 – Flood Damage Prevention.  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

262

Item XIV. 10.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Cindy and Steven Pitts request to rezone +/- 1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a new home site. Located at 453 Gracen Road. [Map# 271 Parcel# 40] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. Located at 453 Gracen Road. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 The applicant would like to subdivide the property to create a new home site. In doing so, the new 1 acre 

will need to be rezoned to AR-2. 

 The parcel is served by a private well and septic system.  

 To the south, east, and west is the municipality of Guyton. To the north, the parcels are zoned 

agricultural/residential.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. This parcel is projected to be 

agricultural/residential.  

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval. The motion 

was second by Mr. Brad Smith and carried unanimously.   

 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home 

site. Located at 453 Gracen Road.  

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home 

site. Located at 453 Gracen Road. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 

 

 

 

263

Item XIV. 11.



264

Item XIV. 11.



265

Item XIV. 11.



266

Item XIV. 11.



267

Item XIV. 11.



268

Item XIV. 11.



269

Item XIV. 11.



270

Item XIV. 11.



271

Item XIV. 11.



272

Item XIV. 11.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Cindy and Steven Pitts request to rezone +/- 1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a new home site. Located at 453 Gracen Road. [Map# 271 Parcel# 40] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. Located at 453 Gracen Road. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 The applicant would like to subdivide the property to create a new home site. In doing so, the new 1 acre 

will need to be rezoned to AR-2. 

 The parcel is served by a private well and septic system.  

 To the south, east, and west is the municipality of Guyton. To the north, the parcels are zoned 

agricultural/residential.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. This parcel is projected to be 

agricultural/residential.  

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval. The motion 

was second by Mr. Brad Smith and carried unanimously.   

 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home 

site. Located at 453 Gracen Road.  

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 1.00 out of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home 

site. Located at 453 Gracen Road. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

 

273

Item XIV. 12.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

271-40 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

271-40 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, CINDY AND STEVEN PITTS has filed an application to rezone one (1.00) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to 

allow for a new home site; map and parcel number 271-40, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one (1.00) +/- acres; map and parcel number 271-40, located in the 3rd commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

274

Item XIV. 12.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Mark Jacobs request to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home 
sites. Located at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road. [Map# 320 Parcel# 50D & 52] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Located at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 The applicant is requesting to rezone both parcels to AR-2 to subdivide 320-50D and recombine some of 

that to their current home parcel, 320-52.  

 The applicant has worked with Environmental Health to ensure that all lots have the required 1 usable acre 

for private septic systems. 

 A 60’ access easement has been provided for the lots that do not have road frontage, and the fifth lot will 

be recombined with the applicant’s home parcel.  

 The lot that does have frontage on Highway 119, does have the required 100’ need for an AR-2 parcel.  

 Per Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – Uses Permitted 

in Districts, Section 5.2 – AR-2 Agricultural Residential Districts: 

Permitted uses: 
a. Class A single-family detached dwellings and their customary uses on the basis of one dwelling for 

each 43,560 square feet of land under the same ownership and 100 feet of frontage on a public 
street.  

b. All uses permitted in section 5.1 except uses specified in subsections 5.1.1.2, 5.1.1.3, 5.1.1.6, 
5.1.2.11, and 5.1.2.12.  

c. Government-owned utilities, except publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the State of 

Georgia and water storage facilities in excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that wells, 

pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities must be enclosed by a painted or chain-

link fence or wall at least six feet in height above finished grade and provided there is neither office 

nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises. 

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. This parcel is projected to be 

agricultural/residential. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion that for approval with the 

condition that the 9.81-acre parcel stays AR-1. The applicant agreed to the condition. The motion was 

second by Mr. Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously.     

 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Located 
at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road, with the following conditions: 
- the 9.81-acre parcel located at 475 Little McCall Road remain AR-1.   
 

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Located 

at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 

275

Item XIV. 13.



Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 

276

Item XIV. 13.



277

Item XIV. 13.



278

Item XIV. 13.



279

Item XIV. 13.



280

Item XIV. 13.



281

Item XIV. 13.



282

Item XIV. 13.



283

Item XIV. 13.



284

Item XIV. 13.



285

Item XIV. 13.



286

Item XIV. 13.



287

Item XIV. 13.



288

Item XIV. 13.



289

Item XIV. 13.



290

Item XIV. 13.



291

Item XIV. 13.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Mark Jacobs request to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home 
sites. Located at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road. [Map# 320 Parcel# 50D & 52] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Located at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 The applicant is requesting to rezone both parcels to AR-2 to subdivide 320-50D and recombine some of 

that to their current home parcel, 320-52.  

 The applicant has worked with Environmental Health to ensure that all lots have the required 1 usable acre 

for private septic systems. 

 A 60’ access easement has been provided for the lots that do not have road frontage, and the fifth lot will 

be recombined with the applicant’s home parcel.  

 The lot that does have frontage on Highway 119, does have the required 100’ need for an AR-2 parcel.  

 Per Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – Uses Permitted 

in Districts, Section 5.2 – AR-2 Agricultural Residential Districts: 

Permitted uses: 
a. Class A single-family detached dwellings and their customary uses on the basis of one dwelling for 

each 43,560 square feet of land under the same ownership and 100 feet of frontage on a public 
street.  

b. All uses permitted in section 5.1 except uses specified in subsections 5.1.1.2, 5.1.1.3, 5.1.1.6, 
5.1.2.11, and 5.1.2.12.  

c. Government-owned utilities, except publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the State of 

Georgia and water storage facilities in excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that wells, 

pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities must be enclosed by a painted or chain-

link fence or wall at least six feet in height above finished grade and provided there is neither office 

nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises. 

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. This parcel is projected to be 

agricultural/residential. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion that for approval with the 

condition that the 9-acre parcel stays AR-1. The applicant agreed to the condition. The motion was 

second by Mr. Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously.     

 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Located 
at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road, with the following condition: 
- the 9.81-acre parcel located at 475 Little McCall Road remain AR-1.   
 

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 20.41 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Located 

at Highway 119 South and 475 Little McCall Road. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 

292

Item XIV. 14.



Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 

293

Item XIV. 14.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

320-50D & 52 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

320-50D & 52 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, MARK JACOBS has filed an application to rezone twenty and forty-one thousandth (20.41) +/- acres; from 

AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites; map and parcel number 320-50D & 52, located in the 3rd 

commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT twenty and forty-one thousandth (20.41) +/- acres; map and parcel number 320-50D & 

52, located in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites, with the 

following condition: 

-  the 9.81-acre parcel located at 475 Little McCall Road remain AR-1.   

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

294

Item XIV. 14.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Fifth District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Milton Rahn Jr. request to rezone +/- 0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow 
for recombination. Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. [Map# 447 Parcel# 40] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for recombination. Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is rezoning the 0.078 acres to combine it with 447-3, as the small accessory structure is 

currently over the property line.  

 To combine the 0.078 acres, it must be the same zoning as the parcel being combined with, which is AR-2.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. This parcel is projected to be 

agricultural/residential. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. The motion was second by Mr. Brad Smith and carried unanimously.      

   
 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for recombination. 

Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. 

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for recombination. 

Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. 
 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 

 

 

295

Item XIV. 15.



296

Item XIV. 15.



297

Item XIV. 15.



298

Item XIV. 15.



299

Item XIV. 15.



300

Item XIV. 15.



301

Item XIV. 15.



302

Item XIV. 15.



303

Item XIV. 15.



304

Item XIV. 15.



305

Item XIV. 15.



306

Item XIV. 15.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Milton Rahn Jr. request to rezone +/- 0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow 
for recombination. Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. [Map# 447 Parcel# 40] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for recombination. Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is rezoning the 0.078 acres to combine it with 447-3, as the small accessory structure is 

currently over the property line.  

 To combine the 0.078 acres, it must be the same zoning as the parcel being combined with, which is AR-2.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map for this area. This parcel is projected to be 

agricultural/residential. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. The motion was second by Mr. Brad Smith and carried unanimously.      

   
 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for recombination. 

Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. 

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 0.078 acres of 78.775 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for recombination. 

Located at Lexington Avenue Ext. 
 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

307

Item XIV. 16.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

447-3 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

447-3 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, MILTON RAHN JR. has filed an application to rezone seventy-eight thousandth (0.078) +/- acres; from AR-1 

to AR-2 to allow for the division of an encroachment of a shed from surrounding; parcel to create new home sites; map and parcel 

number 447-3, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT seventy-eight thousandth (0.078) +/- acres; map and parcel number 447-3, located in the 

5th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for to allow for the division of an encroachment of a shed from 

surrounding. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

308

Item XIV. 16.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Fifth District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Donnie Bazemore request to rezone +/- 1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. 
Located at 5947 GA Highway 21. [Map# 465 Parcel# 1C] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. Located at 5947 GA Highway 21. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 This proposed rezoning has been before the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners in 2020 and 

again in 2022. Both times it was denied. 

 At the previous meetings the concerns were consistent and encompassed:  

- Lewis Drive being a residential street. 

- An increase in traffic on Lewis Drive. 

- Access to the proposed development being on Lewis Drive. 

 This parcel is part of the Goshen Terrace Subdivision, it does face Highway 21.  

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) does project this parcel as agriculture/residential. However, this parcel 

on the FLUM is surrounded by what is projected to be commercial. 

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – Uses 

Permitted in Districts, Section 5.11 – B-3 Highway Commercial Districts: 

Permitted uses: 
a. All uses permitted or conditional in B-1 and B-2 except detached single-family buildings. 

b. Automotive sales, service, and storage. 

c. Wholesale operations. 

d. Retail building supply. 

e. Indoor amusement parks or privately owned recreation facilities. 

f. Hospitals. 

g. Screened outdoor storage. 

h. Nursing homes. 

i. Mixed-use residential with a maximum density of 12 units per acre. 

j. Bed and breakfast lodging facility. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval with the 

stipulation that it is used for the proposed use. The motion was seconded by Mr. Peter Higgins and carried 

unanimously.  

  
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. Located at 5947 GA 

Highway 21, with the following conditions: 

- Buffers shall be maintained per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Section 3.4.1 

- A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans 

are submitted. 

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. Located at 5947 GA 

Highway 21. 
309

Item XIV. 17.



 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 

 

 

310

Item XIV. 17.



311

Item XIV. 17.



312

Item XIV. 17.



313

Item XIV. 17.



314

Item XIV. 17.



315

Item XIV. 17.



316

Item XIV. 17.



317

Item XIV. 17.



318

Item XIV. 17.



319

Item XIV. 17.



320

Item XIV. 17.



321

Item XIV. 17.



322

Item XIV. 17.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Donnie Bazemore request to rezone +/- 1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. 
Located at 5947 GA Highway 21. [Map# 465 Parcel# 1C] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. Located at 5947 GA Highway 21. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 This proposed rezoning has been before the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners in 2020 and 

again in 2022. Both times it was denied. 

 At the previous meetings the concerns were consistent and encompassed:  

- Lewis Drive being a residential street. 

- An increase in traffic on Lewis Drive. 

- Access to the proposed development being on Lewis Drive. 

 This parcel is part of the Goshen Terrace Subdivision, it does face Highway 21.  

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) does project this parcel as agriculture/residential. However, this parcel 

on the FLUM is surrounded by what is projected to be commercial. 

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – Uses 

Permitted in Districts, Section 5.11 – B-3 Highway Commercial Districts: 

Permitted uses: 
a. All uses permitted or conditional in B-1 and B-2 except detached single-family buildings. 

b. Automotive sales, service, and storage. 

c. Wholesale operations. 

d. Retail building supply. 

e. Indoor amusement parks or privately owned recreation facilities. 

f. Hospitals. 

g. Screened outdoor storage. 

h. Nursing homes. 

i. Mixed-use residential with a maximum density of 12 units per acre. 

j. Bed and breakfast lodging facility. 

 At the January 10, 2024, Planning Board meeting Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval with the 

stipulation that it is used for the proposed use. The motion was seconded by Mr. Peter Higgins and carried 

unanimously.  

  
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. Located at 5947 GA 

Highway 21, with the following conditions: 

- Buffers shall be maintained per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Section 3.4.1 

- A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans 

are submitted. 

 
2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 1.58 acres from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot. Located at 5947 GA 

Highway 21. 
323

Item XIV. 18.



 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

324

Item XIV. 18.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

465-1C 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

465-1C 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, CINDY AND STEVEN PITTS has filed an application to rezone one and fifty-eight thousandth (1.58) +/- 

acres; from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot; map and parcel number 465-1C, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 6, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on December 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one and fifty-eight thousandth (1.58) +/- acres; map and parcel number 465-1C, located 

in the 5th commissioner district is rezoned from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a car lot with the following conditions: 

- Buffers shall be maintained per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Section 3.4.1 

- A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are submitted. 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

325

Item XIV. 18.



Staff Report           Sketch Plan  

Subject:  Sketch Plan (Fifth District)  
Author:  Sammy Easton, Planner II  
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date:  February 6, 2024 
Item Description: Donnie Bazemore request approval of a sketch plan for “Bazemore Car Lot”  Located on 
Hwy 21 South, proposed zoning B-3. [Map# 465J Parcel# 1C] 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends Alternative 1 of a sketch plan for “Bazemore Car Lot”  
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan.  

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review the 
proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the sketch plan 
does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing features, including 
water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the sketch plan.  

• This parcel rezoning has been denied 2 times previously. 
• The existing home on the property will be used as the main office of the car lot.  
• Main Access to this property will be off Lewis Drive with a commercial-grade driveway. 
• The Buffer along Lewis Drive must be at least 10’, the applicant is showing a 15’ buffer. The Buffer to the North 

touching the Residential Property is 30’, the Buffer to the east touching the B-3 parcel is 15’ and there is a 10’ 
landscaped buffer on the Highway 21 property line. This is in accordance with the 2023 Effingham County 
Code of Ordinance, 3.4.2 Adjacent public street buffers (adopted 11/7/2023):  

All development excluding industrial development shall maintain a ten-foot wide landscaped buffer between any 
parking or loading area and an adjacent accessed public right-of-way (ROW). In single-family subdivisions, a ten-foot 
landscaped buffer must be maintained between any lot or internal street and any public collector or arterial ROW 
accessed from the subdivision. 
Where parcels abut a street without access to that street the buffer on that side of the parcel shall equal the required 
buffer for the use on the other side of the street shown in the chart. 

• Development Services understands a Car Lot must have exposure to be successful, if the landscaping adheres 
to Section 3.4 – Buffers, Development Services will allow this. 

• On January 10, 2024, Planning Board Recommended Approval with Staff Conditions.  

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Bazemore Car Lot” with the following conditions: 

a. The Pond is moved further south, adding more distance between it and the buffer. 
b. An Encroachment permit is issued for the Main Access Point for the car lot.  
c. A Buffer Map and Buffer contract is submitted at time of Land Disturbing Activity and 

Development Plan Review. 
d. The Applicant obtains an Effingham County Commercial Business License 
e. Buffers must be replanted before the issuance of a business license. 
f. Applicant passes his Fire Inspection.  
g. Site development plans shall comply with Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 
h. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE 

2. Deny the sketch plan for “Bazemore Car Lot”  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1       Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services     FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Sketch Plan  3. Aerial Photograph  

326

Item XIV. 19.



327

Item XIV. 19.



328

Item XIV. 19.



329

Item XIV. 19.



330

Item XIV. 19.



331

Item XIV. 19.



332

Item XIV. 19.



333

Item XIV. 19.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	Firearms- Ordinance
	Part II, Chapter 42, Section 42-7 - Firearms Staff Report
	Part II, Chapter 42, Section 42-7 - Firearms- Ordinance
	Firearms Ordinance_previous version

	Item X. 1.	Assemblage Permit for Effingham Shrine Club
	Ham Jam Upload

	Item X. 2.	Otis Seckinger Road
	Otis Seckinger Road Closing Staff Report
	Pages from Otis Seckinger Road Closing Content

	Item X. 3.	Oglethorpe Final Plat
	Oglethorpe Upload

	Item X. 4.	Creekside Final Plat
	Creekside Upload

	Item X. 5.	Custom Ambulance PO
	1. Staff Report Ambulance PO
	2. Email Explanation
	2. Letter PRICE INCREASE NOTIFICATION
	2. Amended PO template
	2. PO 2 Ambulances
	3. Effingham P.O. Updated -2-13-2023
	4. EFFINGHAM-TYPE I FORD F450 QUOTATION-1-19-2024

	Item X. 6.	McGraley Amendment
	1. Staff Report Amendment 6 mcGraley
	2.   Amendment # 6 to McGraley Roadside Mowing
	4.  Fully Executed Contract & Amendment No.1 - 5 - The McGraley Company

	Item X. 7.	OAR Design Kimley Horn
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. ltr.Effingham.KH.Old Augusta Road_20240110

	Item X. 8.	Peek Pavement CO
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order Template
	3. Effingham_County_1-95-0371 (1)

	Item X. 9.	PREA Audit
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. EFFINGHAM CONTRACT JANUARY 9, 2024
	3. Quote 1
	3. Quote 2
	3. Quote 3

	Item X. 10.	Utility Easement Agreement
	1. Staff Report Template
	20240124171326429

	Item X. 11.	grant acceptance - Ground Ambulance UPL supplemental payment program - have received before
	staff report - AWARD Acceptance Ambulance UPL 2024
	ground ambulance UPL paymetn information 2-6-24

	Item X. 12.	budget amendment FY 2023
	Staff Report FY 2023 Budget Amendment 2-6-24
	Resolution FY 2023 budget amendments 2-6-24 meeting

	Item X. 13.	budget amendment - FY 2024
	Staff Report FY 2024 Budget Amendment 2-6-24
	Resolution FY 2024 budget amendments 2-6-24 meeting

	Item X. 14.	Approval of New Job Titles and Job Descriptions
	New Job Descriptions and Job Titles 2.6.2024
	Health, Wellness, and Safety Coordinator DRAFT 1.16.2024
	Solid Waste Coordinator DRAFT 2.6.2024

	Item X. 15.	Meritain Health Administrative Services Amendment_Disease Management 3.1.2023
	Approval of Meritain Health Amendment to ASA_Disease Management 2.6.2024
	0323-Effingham County Board of Commissioners-Amendment

	Item X. 16.	City of Springfield Annexation_ 410-61-63
	COS Annexation sr_
	8 Notice of Annexation Petition to County White Tract - Corrected
	City of Springfield Annexation
	Parcel 410-61 62 63

	Item XIV. 1.	Eric Smith - Conditional Use
	Smith CU Staff Report
	450A-56_Smith_CU

	Item XIV. 2.	Eric Smith - 2nd Reading
	Smith CU 2nd Reading
	Smith CU ZMA

	Item XIV. 3.	Hallie Myers - Conditional Use - Agritourism
	Myers CU Staff Report
	285-5_Myers_CU

	Item XIV. 4.	Hallie Myers - Conditional Use - 2nd Reading
	Myers CU 2nd Reading
	Myers CU ZMA

	Item XIV. 5.	Hallie Myers - Variance
	Myers V Staff Report
	285-5_Myers_V

	Item XIV. 6.	Hallie Myers - Variance - 2nd Reading
	Myers V 2nd Reading
	Myers V ZMA

	Item XIV. 7.	Jamon Jones - Rezoning
	Jones Staff RZ Report
	354-28_Jones_RZ

	Item XIV. 8.	Jamon Jones - 2nd Reading
	Jones Staff RZ 2nd Reading
	Jones RZ ZMA

	Item XIV. 9.	James Dasher - PD Text Amendment
	Dasher PD Text Amendment Staff Report
	436-3,435-21,21a,21b_Dasher_RZ

	Item XIV. 10.	James Dasher - 2nd Reading
	Dasher PD Text Amendment 2nd Reading
	Dasher RZ ZMA

	Item XIV. 11.	Cindy & Steven Pitts - Rezoning
	Pitts RZ Staff Report
	271-40_Pitts_RZ

	Item XIV. 12.	Cindy & Steven Pitts - 2nd Reading
	Pitts RZ 2nd Reading
	Pitts RZ ZMA

	Item XIV. 13.	Mark Jacobs - Rezoning
	Jacobs RZ Staff Report
	320-50D&320-52_Jacobs_RZ

	Item XIV. 14.	Mark Jacobs - 2nd Reading
	Jacobs RZ 2nd Reading
	Jacobs RZ ZMA

	Item XIV. 15.	Rahn Jr. - Rezoning
	Rahn RZ Staff Report
	447-3_Rahn_RZ

	Item XIV. 16.	Rahn Jr. - 2nd Reading
	Rahn RZ Staff 2nd Reading
	Rahn RZ ZMA

	Item XIV. 17.	Donnie Bazemore - Rezoning
	Bazemore RZ Staff Report
	465J-1C_Bazemore_RZ

	Item XIV. 18.	Donnie Bazemore - 2nd Reading
	Bazemore RZ 2nd Reading
	Bazemore RZ ZMA

	Item XIV. 19.	Bazemore Sketch Plan
	Bazemore SK Upload

	Bottom

